
Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Mayor’s Question Time: Policy 

Date: Wednesday 9 October 2019

Time: 9.00 am Public meeting Yes

Venue: Room 116, 16 Summer Lane, Birmingham, B19 3SD

Membership
Councillor Lisa Trickett (Chair) Birmingham City Council
Councillor Cathy Bayton (Vice-Chair) Association of Black Country Authorities
Councillor Lynnette Kelly (Vice-Chair) Coventry and Solihull Local Authorities
Councillor Ahmad Bostan Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Richard Brown Coventry City Council
Paul Brown Black Country Local Enterprise Partnership
Councillor Dean Carroll Shropshire Non-Constituent Local Authorities
Councillor Mike Chalk Worcestershire Non-Constituent Local 

Authorities
Councillor Brian Douglas-Maul Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Peter Fowler Birmingham City Council
Councillor Angus Lees Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
Mike Lyons Greater Birmingham & Solihull Local Enterprise 

Partnership
Councillor Dr. Simon Peaple Staffordshire Non-Constituent Local Authorities
Councillor Lucy Seymour-Smith Birmingham City Council
Councillor Stephen Simkins Association of Black Country Authorities
Councillor Paul Sweet City of Wolverhampton Council
Councillor Kate Wild Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Sarah Windrum Coventry & Warwickshire Local Enterprise 

Partnership

If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact:

Contact Tanya Patel, Goverance Services Officer
Telephone 0121 214 7689
Email Tanya.Patel@wmca.org.uk

Public Document Pack



Agenda
Page 2 of 2

AGENDA
No. Item Presenting Pages

The members of Overview & Scrutiny Committee will question the Mayor, in public, as part of its 
role of holding him to account.  Questions put to the Mayor by the members will be based on policy 
areas that are the responsibility of the WMCA.

1.  Notice of Recording/Webcast
To note that this meeting will be webcast for live 
or subsequent broadcast via West Midlands 
Combined Authority Facebook page 
https://www.facebook.com/westmidlandsca/

Chair None

2.  Chair - Welcome and Introduction Chair None

3.  The Mayor's Opening Statement Andy Street None

4.  Questions to the Mayor from member of 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee

All Members 1 - 110

5.  Closing comments from the Mayor and Chair Andy Street / Chair None

At the conclusion of the Q&A session, members will be asked to consider which (if any) further 
questions or other items they would like to draw to the attention of the WMCA Board when it meets 
on 8 November 2019.

https://www.facebook.com/westmidlandsca/


Useful Information 
Questioning Techniques 

Extract from the Local Government Association - Guidance for Scrutiny Members

 Questioning is a crucial component of the ‘critical friend’ challenge and an 
important principle of good public scrutiny. 

 The key to successful questioning is balancing the need to get answers with the 
need to build relationships. This can be achieved by a combination of good 
preparation, knowing what questions to ask and when to ask them, and 
understanding which style is appropriate for different situations. 

 Questioning is best carried out after some initial evidence gathering and research 
so that questions can be targeted on the appropriate issues.

 Questioning is a powerful and essential tool. 

 Good questioning can enable you to:  

• get to the ‘heart of the matter’  

• gather evidence and clarify and expand on initial views or early information  

• draw information without making the respondent feel intimidated or prejudged  

• facilitate inclusion, buy-in and ownership of problems and build a rapport

 Questioning needs to be probing but not destructive - incisive but constructive.

Question Types

There are different types of questions which can be utilised to help achieve a desired outcome, 
OSC members should consider the type of question they wish to use in order to get the 
information in the response that they require.

Open Questions
Open questions allow the witness to open up and to share all the information they 
have. Useful phrases: 

How? Why? Who? What? When?

   

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Comparative Questions
These can be used to compare situations, for example on a before and after basis. Useful 
questions could be phrased as follows:

 What has it been like since…..?
 What difference has…..?

Closed Questions
Where a simple yes or no answer will suffice it is advisable to stick to closed questions (such as 
when checking a fact). Closed questions are harder to avoid and easier to challenge. 

Useful phrases: 

 Did you …? 
 Have you told……?

Rephrasing or paraphrasing
This technique can be used to clarify something that has been said by the witness, it may also 
encourage the witness to elaborate on their previous answer and provide more detail. 

Useful phrases:

 Are you saying that…?
 Let me see if I understand the problem completely…

Reflecting Questions
These are used to clarify something which has been said, and/or to get the respondent to speak 
about a subject in more depth. Useful phrases could include “You said that…” and “You sound 
as if ….” Or “I get the feeling that…..”

Linking Questions
Linking questions rely on active listening on the part of the scrutineer. By linking previous 
responses offered by the witness to other issues the scrutineer is able to demonstrate that 
they have valued the witness’s input. This technique may then encourage the witness to offer 
further explanation. Useful phrases:

 You mentioned earlier that…
 How would you….?

Extending Questions
Extending questions invite the witness to offer more information, and to elaborate on what 
they have already said. Useful phrases:

 How else could…?
 Could you tell me more about..?

Page 2



Useful Information 
Mayoral Q&A Session on the Delivery and Impact of the WMCA’s Policies

9 October 2019

The Mayoral Q&A sessions provide a useful forum for the Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
to question and challenge the Mayor on the delivery and impact of the WMCA’s policies.

WMCA’s Policies
1. Inclusive economic growth, transport, housing and skills are key areas for the WMCA along 

with the environment, digital transformation and wellbeing.

2. Further information on these policies can be found within the WMCA’s Annual Plan 2019/20 
that can be accessed here: WMCA's Annual Business Plan 2019-20 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
3. As discussed by the Overview & Scrutiny Committee on 2 September, the Mayoral Q&A 

session will be structured around the committee’s three core themes (accountability, 
connectivity and investment) and questions should be focussed on the key challenges for the 
WMCA, drawing on those set out in the Annual Plan 2019/20, State of the Region report and 
the Strategic Risk Register.  

4. The committee’s three core themes and the key challenges for the WMCA are as follows:

Three Core Themes

 Accountability
5. The committee will wish to see that high standards of governance underpin how the 

WMCA makes its decisions. This scrutiny area seeks to ensure that those governance 
structures are fit for purpose, effective, encourage transparent decision making and 
have adapted to new responsibilities for the WMCA. Wider public engagement will also 
be looked at to ensure that the WMCA is open to views of marginalised communities 
as well as those of experts. An appropriate understanding of the relative areas of 
responsibility of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee and the Audit, Risk & Assurance 
Committee is relevant to this theme.

 Connectivity
6. How the WMCA’s services provide improved connectivity which benefits all areas 

across the region to ensure Inclusive growth targets are met. This covers not just 
traditional transport issues but new and emerging types of connectivity and the 
environment/energy and HS2 initiatives. This scrutiny area will challenge the strength 
of these connections, as well as how the WMCA is addressing the digital divide within 
the region and making sure new technologies are delivered in a timely and inclusive 
way.

 Investment
7. Inclusive growth is at the heart of what the WMCA seeks to do, and the WMCA is 

responsible for, or has influence over, significant funding streams. Its value as an 
organisation relies on the effective targeting of this funding. This scrutiny area will seek 
to establish whether the ambitions and policies of the WMCA are realistic to the levels 

Page 3

https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/3268/annual-plan.pdf


of funding it has, whether funding streams are being effectively targeted, and whether 
communities can feel the benefit of the WMCA’s involvement.

WMCA’s Five Key Challenges

 Brexit uncertainty
8. The outcome and impacts on businesses and economy are not yet fully known.

 Productivity
9. Headline productivity is moving in the right direction, but still lags behind the rest of 

the UK.

 Youth Unemployment 
10. Youth unemployment rates continue to be a challenge for the region.

 Healthy life expectancy 
11. Healthy life expectancy is lower than the national average (for both males and 

females).

 Inclusive Growth
12. The need to continue a focus on inclusive growth and ensure that people across the 

region can access, shape or feel the full benefits of sustained economic growth.

Questions to the Mayor
13. The Overview & Scrutiny Committee made the decision that there will be no requirement for 

questions to be submitted in advance, but the committee has identified some specific lines of 
enquiry which arise in connection with the three core themes as identified above.  The Chair 
has asked the committee to consider these lines of enquiry when undertaking the scrutiny 
activities.

 Is the contribution to overall WMCA strategic priorities clear?
 Is it clear how this will impact on the targets for Inclusive growth?
 Is the project funded sufficiently to achieve its objectives?
 What difference will the project make to people within the West Midlands and when 

will they feel the benefit?
 Are impacts and outputs measurable and are they being monitored?
 Are other WMCA policies such as social value in procurement being implemented?
 Has an Equalities Impact Assessment been carried out for new policy areas?
 Is the role and expectation of partners understood?
 Governance structure - who makes the decisions and how are these made? 

14. The Chair has asked the Overview & Scrutiny Committee to consider the WMCA’s 
challenges together with its three core themes to help shape its questions.

 

Page 4



West Midlands Combined Authority

Annual Plan
2019/2020

Building the FuturePage 5



2

Contents

Our region: economic context, challenges and opportunities8

Our vision, priority objectives and strategic enablers9

Portfolio contributions and interdependencies12

Our delivery in 2019/2018

Enabling Delivery: Our budget, resources and investments60

Risks to delivery64

Our companies and accountable bodies66

Introduction4
Purpose of the plan
About the WMCA
How we work
Our devolution journey
Our membership

Transport
Housing & Land
Productivity & Skills
Economy & Innovation
Environment & Energy, HS2
Public Service Reform & Social Economy
Culture & Digital
Wellbeing
Inclusive Communities

Our budget, expenditure and investments
Our support and enabling services
Our staffing 
Our commitment to Health & Safety

Page 6



1

Foreword

Welcome to the West Midlands Combined 
Authority’s (WMCA) Annual Plan for 2019/20. 
Overall, regional growth remains relatively strong 
and the West Midlands is, quite rightly, optimistic 
about the future.
 
Everything we do at the Combined Authority is 
geared towards improving some aspect of life for 
people across the region – that’s our reason for 
being here and it drives every move we make. The 
WMCA was created by its founding partners to 
identify and deliver our shared future vision for 
the region – a happier, healthier, better-connected 
and more prosperous West Midlands.

That vision is both ambitious and long-term. This 
plan sets out what we will deliver during 2019/20 
to make progress towards it. Building on the firm 
foundations laid during the previous year, the 
plan sets out the steps that we will take to ensure 
the region’s continued economic and cultural 
renaissance, whilst redoubling our efforts to 
address the social challenges facing the region.

Our vision and priorities remain the same, 
but we have re-shaped portfolios this year to 
better reflect our focus on key challenges and 
developments. The portfolios presented in this 
plan put stronger emphasis on environment and 
climate change, culture, and the region’s digital 
advances. We are also re-energising the combined 

authority’s taskforces, including groups dedicated 
to tackling homelessness and boosting the 
fortunes of high streets.

We have a lot to be proud of. Outside London, 
we still top the UK league table for exports, job 
creation and foreign business investment. We 
are the only region in the country to carry a trade 
surplus with China and the United States. In 2021 
Coventry will be the UK City of Culture and in 
2022 Birmingham will host the Commonwealth 
Games. 

But it would be wrong to get ahead of ourselves. 
Our region, and the nation as a whole, are at a 
crossroads. The UK’s departure from the European 
Union has been on the WMCA’s agenda since its 
foundation. Uncertainty over the detail of that 
departure has, at times, made it difficult to create 
future-proof policy. Yet we have been working 
hard on our no-deal contingency planning and are 
doing everything we can to ensure businesses can 
thrive in our region post-Brexit.
 
Part of that support lies in playing to our 
strengths. We are a global player in autonomous 
vehicle research and home to a premier tech 
and digital sector with strong automotive and 
advanced manufacturing sectors. Our Low Carbon 
sector is the region’s most productive, with 
GVA per employee far outstripping the national 

Andy Street
Mayor of the West Midlands and 
Chair of the WMCA

Page 7



2

average, and our business services and creative 
sectors are undoubted strengths. Our Local 
Industrial Strategy, the first in the UK, is aimed at 
supporting our world-class sectors and driving 
inclusive growth. You will see references to our 
Local Industrial Strategy throughout this Annual 
Plan, where it provides a basis for our activity and 
intent over the 2019/20 period.

Perhaps most importantly, we need to remember 
that devolution has given our region a once-in-
a-generation opportunity to drive outcomes for 
our citizens. We are driving a 30-year multi billion 
investment package over transport, housing, 
skills, digital technology and more. Since May 
2017 we have secured a further £1.7bn of new 
funding, bringing to £600m the money dedicated 
to cleaning up brownfield land for housing and 
commercial development. This signifies our 
massive potential for growth and demonstrates 
faith by government and investors that we can 
deliver.

All this is helping to fund major transport 
infrastructure, with new tram and rail lines and 
key road improvements being rolled out across 
our region. This will ensure that our citizens 
secure the maximum benefits from HS2, whilst 
also unlocking long-dormant pockets of land - 
crucial to building the 215,000 new homes we 
need by 2031 to meet future housing demand. 
That’s why we’re also at the vanguard of new and 
advanced methods of construction, helping us to 
build more homes at pace and equip local people 
with the skills to do so.

Finally, as an organisation with such massive 
responsibility and potential, we cannot afford 
to sit still. We must continue to build a strong 
team that harnesses all of our available talent and 
collectively ensures that our economic growth is 
truly inclusive for our citizens.

I am grateful to politicians, officers and all our 
partners across the region and beyond for the 
collaborative spirit which has underpinned our 
success so far, and which will ensure this plan 
delivers our full potential. 

Page 8



3

The focus of this plan is on inclusive growth. Our 
planned delivery and activity is intended to make 
sure everyone can experience better transport, 
housing, skills and digital technology as we build 
a healthier, happier, better connected and more 
prosperous West Midlands. Our residents must 
feel the benefits, in terms of physical and mental 
wellbeing, jobs and economic opportunities for 
all in healthy, inclusive, supportive and vibrant 
communities.
 
The West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) 
is still evolving. But we have made a successful 
start. Much of the work of the WMCA to date 
has been largely unseen - researching, designing 
and laying the all-important foundations for key 
projects and negotiating far-reaching funding 
deals with government, business and investors, 
in the UK and internationally. It is that ‘behind the 
scenes’ work, by our commissions, partners and 
officers, that has given us the evidence base to 
map the way forward, and on which much of the 
delivery set out in this plan is based. Proposed 
activity across all our priority portfolios reinforces 
and embeds our focus on people as well as place, 
by building citizen resilience and capability 
through radical prevention, helping people to 
access training and employment, and supporting 
improved wellbeing.
 
I believe that the WMCA, working with and 
through our local government partners, 
Local Enterprise Partnerships, and range of 
stakeholders, is at the forefront of the economic 
and cultural renaissance of the West Midlands. 
The recently launched Local Industrial Strategy, 
for example, sets out the national and global 

strategic opportunities for driving further inclusive 
growth and productivity improvements in our 
region’s economy. 
 
In addition to the delivery within each priority 
portfolio, we will be looking to continue to 
consolidate our regional position and approach 
to Brexit and the upcoming Comprehensive 
Spending Review, developing proposals for 
further devolution, pushing innovation and new 
ways of working and ensuring the region remains 
ambitious.

This year will see the work of the WMCA really 
move up a gear and show progress across 
major projects that we all will see and feel. Our 
strategic leadership team is now in place and each 
directorate has developed its plan for how it will 
play its particular part across the whole breadth 
of our work. We will continue to do extensive 
organisational development and improvement 
work including a review of our support services to 
improve efficiency and effectiveness.
 
I hope you find this plan a helpful summary of 
what we will deliver during 2019/20, and the links 
it makes to the range of regional policy, strategy 
and delivery plans that articulate the action we 
will deliver and support to make further progress 
towards our vision of a healthier, happier, better 
connected and more prosperous West Midlands.

Deborah Cadman
Chief Executive of the WMCA 

Page 9



4

A Combined Authority is a legal body set up 
using national legislation that enables a group 
of two or more councils to collaborate and take 
collective decisions across council boundaries.

The West Midlands Combined Authority 
(WMCA) was established in 2016 by the 
seven metropolitan councils in the region 
(Birmingham, Coventry, Dudley, Sandwell, 
Solihull, Walsall and Wolverhampton). Beyond 
those seven constituent member authorities 
the WMCA has a wider membership of non-
constituent local authorities and 3 Local 
Enterprise Partnerships, and works with a range 
of other stakeholders and partners. 

We are a politically led organisation. The 
WMCA is led by the Mayor of the West 
Midlands, Andy Street, the Deputy Mayor 
(Cllr. Bob Sleigh), and the Leaders of the seven 
constituent local authorities, which have full 
voting rights. Non-constituent authorities have 
reduced voting rights but play a crucial role 
at board level, helping to inform policy and 
drive forward the WMCA’s agenda. There are 
also observer organisations who include other 
councils, LEPs, and bodies awaiting non-
constituent membership, as well as non-voting 
observers, including the West Midlands Police 
and Crime Commissioner, West Midlands Fire 
Authority and the Young Combined Authority.

Introduction

SOLIHULL
COVENTRY

BIRMINGHAM

SANDWELL

DUDLEY

WALSALLWOLVERHAMPTON

The purpose of this Annual Plan is to:

• Set out the WMCA priorities for 2019/20 so that partners and stakeholders are clear on the key 
areas of focus

• Provide a strategic context for the WMCA as an organisation so that service plans and operational 
activity are aligned to the overall vision and priorities

• Enable the WMCA to articulate what is being delivered, and be able to oversee and review 
progress against priorities

About the WMCA 

Page 10



5

How we work

We have a shared vision of a West Midlands 
region that is healthier, happier, better 
connected and more prosperous. That vision 
can only be realised by working in collaboration 
and partnership with others. The WMCA was 
created to build a strong partnership, based on 
voluntary collaboration, ready to take on key 
powers devolved from central Government and 
enable collective decision making at a regional 
level.

Collaboration is at the heart of how we 
work, and is reflected in our governance 
arrangements. The WMCA makes decisions by 
consensus through its formal Board, and also 
engages through a number of more informal 
groups including the Mayor and Portfolio Lead 
Member liaison meetings and away days, Non-
Constituent Authorities Group and active links 
with the three LEPs on the strategic economic 
agenda and other issues of shared common 
interest. 

The Mayor appoints a deputy mayor and 
portfolio lead members who work with him and 
WMCA directors to lead policy development 
and programme delivery across the priority 
portfolios. The portfolio lead members are:

• Deputy Mayor and Finance Portfolio - Cllr. 
Bob Sleigh, Solihull Metropolitan Borough 
Council

• Transport - Cllr. Ian Ward, Birmingham City 
Council

• Housing & Land - Cllr. Mike Bird, Walsall 
Council

• Productivity & Skills - Cllr. George Duggins, 
Coventry City Council

• Economy & Innovation - Cllr. Ian Brookfield, 
City of Wolverhampton Council

• Environment & Energy, HS2 - Cllr. Ian 
Courts, Solihull Metropolitan Borough 
Council

• Public Service Reform & Social Economy - 
Cllr. Yvonne Davies, Sandwell Metropolitan 
Borough Council

• Culture & Digital - Cllr. Patrick Harley, 
Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council

• Wellbeing - Cllr. Izzi Seccombe, 
Warwickshire County Council

• Inclusive Communities - Cllr. Brigid Jones, 
Birmingham City Council

A number of thematic Boards, led by the 
portfolio lead member, provide political 
leadership and engagement on the strategic 
priorities. These include the Housing and Land 
Delivery Board, Environment Board, Public 
Service Reform Board, Well-Being Board, and 
Transport Delivery Committee. The Investment 
Board oversees the WMCA Investment 
Programme – a programme of projects which 
contribute to the regeneration and economic 
growth through city centre regeneration, major 
new transport infrastructure and other major 
schemes. 

Scrutiny, challenge and oversight are provided 
the Overview & Scrutiny Committee and the 
Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee. Both 
committees have important roles in reviewing 
and scrutinising the Mayor and WMCA's plans, 
priorities, corporate governance arrangements 
and financial affairs. The committees will also 
have a role in overseeing delivery against this 
plan.

Independent commissions, involving key 
stakeholders and sector experts, are established 
to inform major new WMCA policy.
For example, the Productivity and Skills 
Commission which has informed the Regional 
Skills Plan, which in turn has provided the basis 
for a Skills Deal with Central Government and 
further devolution.

Our devolution journey

Since its formation, significant amounts of 
funding have been devolved from Central 
Government to the WMCA enabling the policy 
and fiscal basis for accelerated delivery against 
the priorities that will realise our overall vision 
of a West Midlands that is healthier, happier, 
better connected and more prosperous.

The region has to date successfully negotiated 
two Devolution Deals, a Housing Deal, and 
a Skills Deal. We have been selected by the 
Government to be the first large-scale 5G 
testbed for the UK. Together these have 
leveraged approximately £1.7bn of funding 
that can be deployed regionally rather than 
nationally. We are pushing for more. In 
2019/20 we will be looking to negotiate further 
devolution focussing on affordable housing and 
radical prevention.

Page 11



6

Our Membership
Constituent Authorities

Non-Constituent Authorities and Member Organisations

Observer Organisations

Partnerships and collaboration
We also have a wide range of partnerships and working relationships with a variety of stakeholders, 
organisations, agencies and arms-lengths bodies including Chambers of Commerce, Universities, 
Growth Companies, Midlands Engine, Midlands Connect, Midland Metro Alliance, Energy Capital, 
Sustainability West Midlands, Homes England, and many other networks and forums.

Page 12



7

Partnership working is at the heart of 
everything we do

Page 13



8

The West Midlands is experiencing an economic 
renaissance, bucking the trend of other areas 
outside London. Gross value added (GVA), the 
measure we use to assess the value of goods 
and services in an area, is growing at the same 
rate as the UK at 3.6% and is at an eight year 
high reaching £99bn. This is matched by a 
record high in the amount of GVA generated per 
person, at £24,000, which is growing in line with 
the UK. GVA per hour, the best way to measure 
productivity, is increasing at 3.1%, significantly 
above the UK at 2.5%.

This economic growth is matched by growth in the 
number of active enterprises at 3.6%, again above 
the UK at 3.3%. Although a slight reduction in the 
number of new enterprises, we are still matching 
the UK at 58 per 1000 people in the region, and 
the five year survival rates of businesses is still 
0.6% above the UK at 43.5%. Those businesses 
are creating record numbers of jobs with a growth 
rate of 3.1%, 3 times the England rate.

Looking ahead, many economic fundamentals 
are expected to stay strong, with growth in other 
sectors expected beyond manufacturing, including 
real estate and business, professional and 
financial services. HS2 will improve productivity, 
connectivity, skills and job opportunities. Coventry 
City of Culture in 2021 and the Birmingham 
Commonwealth Games in 2022 will bring 
investment in venues, transport, housing, jobs 
and tourism, as the region’s profile on the global 
stage is boosted. Our Local Industrial Strategy 
identifies four major national and global strategic 
opportunities, where the evidence shows that the 
West Midlands has both existing strengths and the 
ability to make a major future contribution across 
all its sectors.

There are many good reasons to be optimistic 
about the future. Yet our optimism must be 
tempered by current challenges, and those that 
we know are ahead. The outcome and impacts 
of Brexit are still not fully known. Headline 
productivity is moving in the right direction, but 
it still lags behind the rest of the UK. As does the 
proportion of WMCA residents with qualifications 
and those with a healthy life expectancy. Youth 
unemployment is still high. Without effective 
investment in productivity and skills, the region 
risks losing the ability to attract future investment. 
And we know there is still a long way to go to 
meet our inclusive growth ambitions and ensure 
that people across the region are able to feel the 
full benefits of sustained economic growth.

Our annual 'State of the Region' review of 
economic performance provides a shapshot of the 
current regional position, including strengths and 
areas where we should focus on improvement. 
Many of the regional outcome measures listed in 
this plan are those that are reported on through 
the State of the Region report.

The Local Industrial Strategy provides an 
assessment of what makes the region what it is, 
the strengths that set it up well for the future, 
and where there are barriers to growth and 
productivity that need to be addressed.

Our region: the economic 
context, challenges and 
opportunities 

  1 1

West Midlands 
Local Industrial 
Strategy
May 2019

Page 14



9

Our vision, priorities and 
strategic enablers

Drive inclusive economic growth in 
the West Midlands region and 

enable a healthier, happier, better 
connected and more prosperous 

population

�
HOUSING & LAND

�
SKILLS & 

PRODUCTIVITY

�
ENVIRONMENT & 

ENERGY, HS2�
PUBLIC SERVICE 

REFORM & SOCIAL 
ECONOMY

♥
WELLBEING

�
ECONOMY & 
INNOVATION

�
CULTURE & 

DIGITAL

�
INCLUSIVE 

COMMUNITIES

TRANSPORT

9

New sources of 
investment

New technology

New governance, powers 
and tools to deliver

New resources

New ways of working

Page 15



10

Inclusive growth is at the heart of our vision. We 
are deliberately focused on people as well as 
place. Put simply, a successful economy enables 
people to thrive in the places they live and work.

The economic growth we want as a region, 
therefore, should include all of our citizens, who 
will both shape and build the economy, and 
benefit from its success. If we ensure that our 
economic growth leads to healthy, contented, 
purposeful, responsible and well-connected 
citizens, we will ensure the foundations of future 
and sustained success: skilled, healthy and 
informed people, looking after each other and 
the environment where they live and work in.

Economic growth in the West Midlands has to 
mean more people in decent jobs, with good 
pay and prospects of progression. It must 
provide homes that people want and can afford, 
and are in the right places. And it must connect 
people to jobs, homes and one another with 
a transport network and digital infrastructure 
that is resilient and reliable. The growth also 
has to be ‘clean’ by reducing greenhouse gases 
and air pollution, being resource efficient, and 
enhancing our natural environment. 

Our vision therefore is for a more deliberate and 
socially purposeful model of growth – measured 
not only by how fast or aggressive it is, but also 
by how well it is generated and shared across 
the whole population and place.

Our strategic priorities

Each of the strategic priorities is aligned 
with a portfolio overseen by a Portfolio Lead 
Member who is appointed by the Mayor. 
Although the plan is structured around those 
nine priority portfolios there are interactions 
and interdependencies between them. The 
successful delivery of each objective will 
require contributions from them all. By working 
in partnership across the organisation, and 
collaboratively across our partners and region, 
we will develop and deliver the actions to 
implement this plan, and ensure we break down 
existing policy silos and do not create new ones.

Strategic Enablers

In addition to activity that takes place directly 
within portfolios, there are a range of ‘strategic 
enablers’ that will help us deliver our priority 
objectives. Taken together they form a powerful 
set of tools, resources and approaches that are 
key to unlocking delivery in all our portfolio areas. 

• New sources of investment - foreign direct 
investment into the region, more devolved 
funding, and the Investment Programme, 
will enable physical infrastructure and 
regeneration to support our wider ambitions 
for inclusive growth.

•  New ways of working - distributed leadership 
and system collaboration across the public 
and private sectors builds shared ambition 
and enables regional actors to work together 
in new ways to tackle the economic and social 
challenges facing the region. 

•  New governance, powers and tools to 
deliver - the devolution of new policy and 
fiscal powers from government, remove 
barriers to progress and catalyse better 
integration and collaboration across public 
services. 

• New resources - the 2019 Spending Review 
is an opportunity to take a region-wide view 
of how the allocation of public resource will 
help us deliver on our shared objectives. 
New revenue streams, such as the Shared 
Prosperity Fund, and the further development 
of a single pot approach have the potential to 
unlock faster delivery and better outcomes. 

• New technology - the 5G testbed and 
innovation will create opportunities to deliver 
differently and will bring new opportunities 
and experiences to citizens and businesses in 
the region.

These strategic enablers will help WMCA work 
effectively with partners both in the region and in 
central government to determine how best we can 
add value and accelerate change on the ground.

Page 16



11

Although the plan is aligned 
to priority portfolios 

there are interactions and 
interdependencies between 

them. By working in partnership 
across the organisation, and 

collaboratively across our 
partners and region, we will 

develop and deliver the actions to 
implement this plan.

Page 17



12

Portfolio contributions and 
interdependencies 

Portfolio 
Contributions

Vision: A West Midlands that is... Vision: A West Midlands that is...

Healthier Happier Better Connected More Prosperous

Transport

Support the Wellbeing portfolio by 
delivering infrastructure and information 
to create a reliable integrated transport 
system that makes physical activity 
via active travel the attractive/safe/
convenient option for shorter journeys. 
Help to reduce the impact of transport 
emissions and noise. making roads safer 
and reducing KSIs through the Road 
Safety Action Plan.

Support the Environment and Energy 
portfolio by providing clean and efficient 
alternatives to single occupancy private 
car trips into urban centres to help tackle 
poor air quality and carbon emissions.
Improve the customer experience and air 
quality by pushing for greater investment 
for cycling and walking.

Support the Public Service Reform 
and Inclusive Communities portfolios 
by providing affordable services and 
policy support tools to those ‘hard to 
reach’ and excluded groups who find it 
difficult to access vital public services 
and employment, skills and training 
opportunities.

Delivering physical infrastructure 
improvements to boost connectivity to 
communities.

Invest in and develop our bus, rail and metro 
network whilst maintaining safety and security.
 
Supporting inclusive growth through the 
development of the WM transport strategy and 
ensuring we are ready for the City of Culture and 
the Commonwealth Games.

Support the Housing & Land portfolio by 
providing additional transport infrastructure 
and services to help unlock new housing sites as 
well as providing improved accessibility for new 
residents, places and improved town centres and 
inclusive growth corridors.

Support the Skills and Productivity portfolio by 
reducing barriers and improving accessibility for 
people wanting to access employment, skills and 
training opportunities - supported by targeted 
physical infrastructure investments to improve 
services and our targeted subsidies (eg workwise/
apprentice travel, bus services and ring and ride) 
as well as Future Mobility Zone and 5G Test bed 
corridors.

Support the Economy and Innovation portfolio 
by ensuring, through the delivery of the HS2 
Connectivity package, that West Midlands’ 
residents are able to access three or more 
strategic centres including Birmingham City 
Centre, accessible by public transport within 
45 mins travel time in the morning peak time - 
improving accessibility to jobs and employment. 

Support the Housing and Land portfolio by 
delivering transport infrastructure schemes that 
improve accessibility, thereby raising land value 
and creating opportunities for land use change 
that supports regeneration.

Housing and 
Land

Support the Environment and Energy 
portfolio by ensuring the homes we 
build or invest in contribute to carbon 
reduction targets and reduce fuel 
poverty.

Support the Wellbeing portfolio by 
cultivating age friendly neighbourhoods, 
reducing fuel poverty households, 
tackling worklessness through provision 
of new homes and jobs in key locations.

Support the Public Services Reform and 
Social Economy portfolio by increasing 
the number of homes meeting secured by 
design standards. 

Support the Inclusive Communities 
portfolio by significantly increasing 
the proportion of affordable housing 
and driving new quality and design 
benchmarks.

Support the Public Service Reform 
and Social Economy portfolio on 
programmes that tackle homelessness.

Support the Transport portfolio by securing 
higher density development at major transport 
nodes and helping to increase the number of non-
car journeys/ commuting by public transport.

Support the Skills and Productivity Portfolio 
by increasing numbers of young people 
employed in construction, introducing minimum 
apprenticeship requirements in WMCA enabled 
developments and supporting improvement in 
youth unemployment rate through supply chain/ 
sub-contractor appointments as result of WMCA 
intervention.

Support the Economy and Innovation portfolio 
through commercial floor space and jobs created 
as a result of the deployment of Housing and 
Regeneration resources. Secure additional private 
sector investment and apprenticeships secured 
through the deployment of Housing and Land 
Funding.

Page 18



13

Portfolio 
Contributions

Vision: A West Midlands that is... Vision: A West Midlands that is...

Healthier Happier Better Connected More Prosperous

Transport

Support the Wellbeing portfolio by 
delivering infrastructure and information 
to create a reliable integrated transport 
system that makes physical activity 
via active travel the attractive/safe/
convenient option for shorter journeys. 
Help to reduce the impact of transport 
emissions and noise. making roads safer 
and reducing KSIs through the Road 
Safety Action Plan.

Support the Environment and Energy 
portfolio by providing clean and efficient 
alternatives to single occupancy private 
car trips into urban centres to help tackle 
poor air quality and carbon emissions.
Improve the customer experience and air 
quality by pushing for greater investment 
for cycling and walking.

Support the Public Service Reform 
and Inclusive Communities portfolios 
by providing affordable services and 
policy support tools to those ‘hard to 
reach’ and excluded groups who find it 
difficult to access vital public services 
and employment, skills and training 
opportunities.

Delivering physical infrastructure 
improvements to boost connectivity to 
communities.

Invest in and develop our bus, rail and metro 
network whilst maintaining safety and security.
 
Supporting inclusive growth through the 
development of the WM transport strategy and 
ensuring we are ready for the City of Culture and 
the Commonwealth Games.

Support the Housing & Land portfolio by 
providing additional transport infrastructure 
and services to help unlock new housing sites as 
well as providing improved accessibility for new 
residents, places and improved town centres and 
inclusive growth corridors.

Support the Skills and Productivity portfolio by 
reducing barriers and improving accessibility for 
people wanting to access employment, skills and 
training opportunities - supported by targeted 
physical infrastructure investments to improve 
services and our targeted subsidies (eg workwise/
apprentice travel, bus services and ring and ride) 
as well as Future Mobility Zone and 5G Test bed 
corridors.

Support the Economy and Innovation portfolio 
by ensuring, through the delivery of the HS2 
Connectivity package, that West Midlands’ 
residents are able to access three or more 
strategic centres including Birmingham City 
Centre, accessible by public transport within 
45 mins travel time in the morning peak time - 
improving accessibility to jobs and employment. 

Support the Housing and Land portfolio by 
delivering transport infrastructure schemes that 
improve accessibility, thereby raising land value 
and creating opportunities for land use change 
that supports regeneration.

Housing and 
Land

Support the Environment and Energy 
portfolio by ensuring the homes we 
build or invest in contribute to carbon 
reduction targets and reduce fuel 
poverty.

Support the Wellbeing portfolio by 
cultivating age friendly neighbourhoods, 
reducing fuel poverty households, 
tackling worklessness through provision 
of new homes and jobs in key locations.

Support the Public Services Reform and 
Social Economy portfolio by increasing 
the number of homes meeting secured by 
design standards. 

Support the Inclusive Communities 
portfolio by significantly increasing 
the proportion of affordable housing 
and driving new quality and design 
benchmarks.

Support the Public Service Reform 
and Social Economy portfolio on 
programmes that tackle homelessness.

Support the Transport portfolio by securing 
higher density development at major transport 
nodes and helping to increase the number of non-
car journeys/ commuting by public transport.

Support the Skills and Productivity Portfolio 
by increasing numbers of young people 
employed in construction, introducing minimum 
apprenticeship requirements in WMCA enabled 
developments and supporting improvement in 
youth unemployment rate through supply chain/ 
sub-contractor appointments as result of WMCA 
intervention.

Support the Economy and Innovation portfolio 
through commercial floor space and jobs created 
as a result of the deployment of Housing and 
Regeneration resources. Secure additional private 
sector investment and apprenticeships secured 
through the deployment of Housing and Land 
Funding.

Continued overleaf
Page 19



14

Skills and 
Productivity

Support the Wellbeing portfolio given 
that employment has a key role in 
improving/ maintaining health & well-
being. Work with DWP Work and Health 
Programme to support local people with 
moderate health conditions to return to 
the workplace.

Support the Inclusive Communities 
portfolio through targeted programmes 
to engage and support specific 
communities and groups that need 
additional focus or support.

Support the Transport portfolio to increase the 
number of people using public transport – eg 
integrate the promotion of travel options into all 
employment support programmes.

Support the Housing and Land portfolio by 
ensuring the region has the necessary workforce 
to deliver on the region’s ambitious house 
building programme.

Support people to move into employment 
and higher skilled jobs so that all communities 
benefit from the region’s economic growth and 
businesses can access the skills that they need to 
grow.

Work with the Economy and Innovation portfolio 
by supporting the delivery of Local Industrial 
Strategy through targeted skills action plans that 
enable strong and inclusive business growth.

Support the Environment and Energy and 
Transport portfolios by supporting the delivery 
of new skills required for electrification of motor 
vehicles via the Automotive Skills Plan.

Economy and 
Innovation

Supports the Wellbeing and other 
portfolios through Local Industrial 
Strategy including a focus on data-
driven health and life sciences – with an 
ambition to improve clinical care and 
health outcomes.

Supporting all portfolios through the 
Local Industrial Strategy which sets out 
the commitment for a more inclusive 
economy – including maximising the 
potential and success of our diverse 
population.

Support all portfolios – particularly Transport 
and Culture and Digital through the Local 
Industrial Strategy which includes a focus on the 
future of mobility – and the need to seize on the 
opportunities of 5G, Future Mobility Zone, HS2 
and the Commonwealth Games to create a more 
connected region.

Support the Skills and Productivity portfolio 
through the Local Industrial Strategy to inform 
skills action plans that enable strong and inclusive 
business growth.

Environment, 
Energy and 
HS2

Support the Housing and Land portfolio 
through cost effective energy and 
carbon efficiency standards for our new 
buildings, and the retrofitting existing 
homes. Enhancing access to green and 
blue space around.
Work with the Wellbeing, and Transport 
portfolios re improvements in air quality, 
fuel poverty, walking and cycling, access 
and use of good quality local green and 
blue space, and creation of range of 
different ‘clean growth’.

Support the Transport portfolio to 
provide clean and efficient alternatives 
to single occupancy private car trips into 
urban centres to help tackle poor air 
quality and carbon emissions.

Support the Public Service Reform 
and Social Economy and Inclusive 
Communities portfolios through a 
Natural capital investment strategy and 
programme that will improve quality and 
access to local green and blue space to 
benefit local communities and to provide 
a range of volunteering and ‘social 
prescribing’ activity.

Support Inclusive Communities by 
ensuring the energy infrastructure of the 
region supports social inclusion

Work with the Transport portfolio on a low 
emissions strategy and action plan to help 
accelerate local action on areas such as 
monitoring, electric charging points etc.

Support the Economy and Innovation portfolio 
through the clean growth focus of the Local 
Industrial Strategy supported through delivery 
of natural capital, air quality, and clean growth 
business challenges action plans.

Support the Skills and Productivity portfolio 
through the delivery of new skills required 
for electrification of motor vehicles via the 
Automotive Skills Plan.

Public 
Service 
Reform 
and Social 
Economy

Support the Wellbeing portfolio through 
system collaboration and transformation 
of health and wellbeing services to 
preventative model.

Support Housing and Land and Inclusive 
Communities through the work with 
the Homelessness Taskforce, including 
Housing First Pilot. 

Work with Skills and Productivity 
portfolio through targeted programmes 
to engage and support specific 
communities and groups that need 
additional focus or support.

Support the Transport portfolio by informing 
transport policy (routes, pricing) that encourages 
integration.

Support the Inclusive Communities portfolio by 
shaping a region that can deliver more inclusive 
growth, address youth justice and vulnerability, 
homelessness and complex needs, as well as 
transform the region with a digital public services 
programme enhanced by 5G.

Support the Economy and Innovation portfolio 
through the Social Economy Taskforce and 
interventions including a social value policy and 
creation of regional social finance mechanisms 
to help grow social economy organisations in key 
industry sectors.

Portfolio 
Contributions Healthier Happier Better Connected More Prosperous

Page 20



15

Skills and 
Productivity

Support the Wellbeing portfolio given 
that employment has a key role in 
improving/ maintaining health & well-
being. Work with DWP Work and Health 
Programme to support local people with 
moderate health conditions to return to 
the workplace.

Support the Inclusive Communities 
portfolio through targeted programmes 
to engage and support specific 
communities and groups that need 
additional focus or support.

Support the Transport portfolio to increase the 
number of people using public transport – eg 
integrate the promotion of travel options into all 
employment support programmes.

Support the Housing and Land portfolio by 
ensuring the region has the necessary workforce 
to deliver on the region’s ambitious house 
building programme.

Support people to move into employment 
and higher skilled jobs so that all communities 
benefit from the region’s economic growth and 
businesses can access the skills that they need to 
grow.

Work with the Economy and Innovation portfolio 
by supporting the delivery of Local Industrial 
Strategy through targeted skills action plans that 
enable strong and inclusive business growth.

Support the Environment and Energy and 
Transport portfolios by supporting the delivery 
of new skills required for electrification of motor 
vehicles via the Automotive Skills Plan.

Economy and 
Innovation

Supports the Wellbeing and other 
portfolios through Local Industrial 
Strategy including a focus on data-
driven health and life sciences – with an 
ambition to improve clinical care and 
health outcomes.

Supporting all portfolios through the 
Local Industrial Strategy which sets out 
the commitment for a more inclusive 
economy – including maximising the 
potential and success of our diverse 
population.

Support all portfolios – particularly Transport 
and Culture and Digital through the Local 
Industrial Strategy which includes a focus on the 
future of mobility – and the need to seize on the 
opportunities of 5G, Future Mobility Zone, HS2 
and the Commonwealth Games to create a more 
connected region.

Support the Skills and Productivity portfolio 
through the Local Industrial Strategy to inform 
skills action plans that enable strong and inclusive 
business growth.

Environment, 
Energy and 
HS2

Support the Housing and Land portfolio 
through cost effective energy and 
carbon efficiency standards for our new 
buildings, and the retrofitting existing 
homes. Enhancing access to green and 
blue space around.
Work with the Wellbeing, and Transport 
portfolios re improvements in air quality, 
fuel poverty, walking and cycling, access 
and use of good quality local green and 
blue space, and creation of range of 
different ‘clean growth’.

Support the Transport portfolio to 
provide clean and efficient alternatives 
to single occupancy private car trips into 
urban centres to help tackle poor air 
quality and carbon emissions.

Support the Public Service Reform 
and Social Economy and Inclusive 
Communities portfolios through a 
Natural capital investment strategy and 
programme that will improve quality and 
access to local green and blue space to 
benefit local communities and to provide 
a range of volunteering and ‘social 
prescribing’ activity.

Support Inclusive Communities by 
ensuring the energy infrastructure of the 
region supports social inclusion

Work with the Transport portfolio on a low 
emissions strategy and action plan to help 
accelerate local action on areas such as 
monitoring, electric charging points etc.

Support the Economy and Innovation portfolio 
through the clean growth focus of the Local 
Industrial Strategy supported through delivery 
of natural capital, air quality, and clean growth 
business challenges action plans.

Support the Skills and Productivity portfolio 
through the delivery of new skills required 
for electrification of motor vehicles via the 
Automotive Skills Plan.

Public 
Service 
Reform 
and Social 
Economy

Support the Wellbeing portfolio through 
system collaboration and transformation 
of health and wellbeing services to 
preventative model.

Support Housing and Land and Inclusive 
Communities through the work with 
the Homelessness Taskforce, including 
Housing First Pilot. 

Work with Skills and Productivity 
portfolio through targeted programmes 
to engage and support specific 
communities and groups that need 
additional focus or support.

Support the Transport portfolio by informing 
transport policy (routes, pricing) that encourages 
integration.

Support the Inclusive Communities portfolio by 
shaping a region that can deliver more inclusive 
growth, address youth justice and vulnerability, 
homelessness and complex needs, as well as 
transform the region with a digital public services 
programme enhanced by 5G.

Support the Economy and Innovation portfolio 
through the Social Economy Taskforce and 
interventions including a social value policy and 
creation of regional social finance mechanisms 
to help grow social economy organisations in key 
industry sectors.

Portfolio 
Contributions Healthier Happier Better Connected More Prosperous

Continued overleaf
Page 21



16

Portfolio 
Contributions Healthier Happier Better Connected More Prosperous

Culture and 
Digital

Support the Wellbeing portfolio through 
developing and delivering innovative new 
health funding mechanisms by building 
on our 5G test bed status.

Support the Inclusive Communities 
portfolio by ensuring a cultural offer 
in the West Midlands that is open to 
everyone, both to participate and create.

5G will enable a step change in internet 
connectivity for West Midlands residents and 
businesses.

The Local Industrial Strategy includes the 
strategic opportunity to invest and further grow 
the Creative Content, Technical and Technologies 
sector as part of the region’s continued economic 
renaissance and growth.

Wellbeing

Adopting a positive, preventative and 
proactive approach to citizen wellbeing 
by promoting physical activity and 
addressing childhood obesity and mental 
health issues.

Supporting the Public Service Reform 
and Inclusive Communities portfolios 
through public service collaboration to 
ensure infrastructure and development is 
more inclusive.

Programmes to help people into work such as 
Thrive into Wor,k, support delivery of the DWP 
Work & Health Programme in the WMCA area. 

Support the Housing and Land portfolio by 
programmes to help people into work which help 
increase affordability and demand for housing.

Inclusive 
Communities

Support the Public Service Reform 
and Social Economy portfolio on 
programmes that tackle homelessness 
and vulnerable young people.

Work with the Public Service Reform 
and Social Economy portfolio to increase 
citizen participation to give more people 
a chance to be part of social, civic and 
economic life in the region.

Connect communities to policy through the 
establishment of a Young Combined Authority.

Work with the Transport portfolio to ensure the 
development of travel support packages for low 
income groups.

Promote the business case for diversity and 
inclusion through the Inclusive Leadership 
Pledge.

Work with the Skills and Productivity portfolio 
to ensure provision that supports unemployed 
young people into work.

Page 22



17

Inclusive growth is at the 
heart of our vision. We are 

deliberately focused on 
people as well as place.

Portfolio 
Contributions Healthier Happier Better Connected More Prosperous

Culture and 
Digital

Support the Wellbeing portfolio through 
developing and delivering innovative new 
health funding mechanisms by building 
on our 5G test bed status.

Support the Inclusive Communities 
portfolio by ensuring a cultural offer 
in the West Midlands that is open to 
everyone, both to participate and create.

5G will enable a step change in internet 
connectivity for West Midlands residents and 
businesses.

The Local Industrial Strategy includes the 
strategic opportunity to invest and further grow 
the Creative Content, Technical and Technologies 
sector as part of the region’s continued economic 
renaissance and growth.

Wellbeing

Adopting a positive, preventative and 
proactive approach to citizen wellbeing 
by promoting physical activity and 
addressing childhood obesity and mental 
health issues.

Supporting the Public Service Reform 
and Inclusive Communities portfolios 
through public service collaboration to 
ensure infrastructure and development is 
more inclusive.

Programmes to help people into work such as 
Thrive into Wor,k, support delivery of the DWP 
Work & Health Programme in the WMCA area. 

Support the Housing and Land portfolio by 
programmes to help people into work which help 
increase affordability and demand for housing.

Inclusive 
Communities

Support the Public Service Reform 
and Social Economy portfolio on 
programmes that tackle homelessness 
and vulnerable young people.

Work with the Public Service Reform 
and Social Economy portfolio to increase 
citizen participation to give more people 
a chance to be part of social, civic and 
economic life in the region.

Connect communities to policy through the 
establishment of a Young Combined Authority.

Work with the Transport portfolio to ensure the 
development of travel support packages for low 
income groups.

Promote the business case for diversity and 
inclusion through the Inclusive Leadership 
Pledge.

Work with the Skills and Productivity portfolio 
to ensure provision that supports unemployed 
young people into work.

Page 23



18

Managing Director of TfWM
Laura Shoaf

Portfolio Lead Member
Cllr. Ian Ward, Leader of Birmingham 
City Council

Transport for West Midlands (TfWM), the transport arm of the WMCA, 
works with all parts of the combined authority and alongside the seven 
metropolitan councils to ensure the region benefits from an effective 
transport system that meets the economic and environmental needs of 
the West Midlands. 

18

Transport

Page 24



19

Transport for West Midlands (TfWM), the 
transport arm of the WMCA, works with all parts 
of the combined authority and alongside the 
seven metropolitan councils to ensure the region 
benefits from an effective transport system that 
meets the economic and environmental needs of 
the West Midlands.

More information and details about our strategic 
vision for transport can be found in the West 
Midlands transport plan, Movement for Growth.

Summary of activity in 2019/20

To make progress towards our overall aim and 
ambition the following projects and work streams 
will be delivered.

smile

Improving the customer experience

• Enhance the Swift offer in the region with 
a fares and payment strategy - enabling the 
diversification of Swift, Mobility as a Service 
(MaaS), contactless payments and best value 
fare capping. 

• Develop an Integrated Customer Contact 
Centre – providing a single point of contact 
for people accessing the products available.  

• Deliver a single view of our network to help 
improve travel disruption information during 
planned events, unplanned disruption and 
other infrastructure works. 

• Develop and deliver a Bus Station and 
Interchange Redevelopment Programme 
commencing with Walsall St Pauls and 
Coventry Pool Meadow.

• Continue work with our rail industry partners 
in the West Midlands Stations Alliance to 
enhance local stations in partnership with 
local communities. 

• Continue the incremental roll out of our 
regional transport branding as part of an 
Integrated Transport System for our region.

• Deliver a new customer travel centre at New 
Street Station in partnership with Network 
Rail, bus and Metro partners.

walking

A common approach to walking and cycling

• Continue pushing for greater investment 
for cycling and walking, explored through 
opportunities through devolved funding and 
priority investment corridor programmes.

• Allowing for the continued delivery of the 
region’s Cycle Charter Action Plan through 
the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 
Plan.

• We will also introduce the transformational 
‘Next Bike’ bike share scheme.

eye

Ensuring safety and security on the network

• Through our Safer Travel Partnership continue 
to deliver the 30 deliverables within the Local 
Transport Policing Plan to manage anti-social 
behaviour and safety issues across the public 
transport network. 

• Conclude the bus bye law consultation and 
deliver on the actions identified.

• Set up the Strategic Road Safety Partnership 
and develop the delivery plan in partnership 
with local authorities, West Midlands Police 
and West Midlands Fire Service.

leaf

Help improve air quality

• Work with bus operators to increase the 
speed and roll out of Euro VI vehicles to 
improve the region's bus fleet and deliver 
cleaner and greener vehicles which meet 
the Clean Air Zone and other air quality 
requirements.

• Deliver the region’s first high frequency zero 
emission bus routes to improve air quality. 

• Deliver and further develop Electric Vehicle 
and alternative fuels programme.

• Review and update the Low emission Bus 
Delivery Plan to reflect the target of all Euro 
VI fleet by April 2021. 

Page 25



20

Support Bus as the backbone of the West 
Midlands public transport network

• Refresh the West Midlands Bus Alliance 
deliverables to support wider WMCA 
strategic objectives and the Vision for Bus. 

• Effectively manage the bus network and 
associated infrastructure to support the 
delivery aspirations of the Vision for Bus 
and wider programmes such as HS2, the 
Commonwealth Games and Coventry’s City 
of Culture. 

• Roll out the Sprint delivery programme for 
two routes – including developing the detailed 
programme and operating model for routes as 
part of our HS2 Connectivity Package:

 - A34 Walsall to Birmingham via Sandwell
 - A45 Birmingham to Birmingham 

International Airport and Solihull 
• The first phase on the Sutton Coldfield to 

Birmingham via Langley Sprint route will 
also be developed to provide bus priority for 
existing services.

Deliver the best rail services

• TfWM will continue to be a full and active 
member of the West Midlands Rail Executive 
partnership of local authorities, maximising 
benefit from our increased role in the 
management of local rail services, and to 
ensure that West Midlands Trains delivers its 
franchise obligations for 2019/20.

• Develop an implementation and development 
plan for the West Midlands Rail Investment 
Strategy, including the ongoing preparation 
for the delivery of West Midlands Rail 
Programme. The programme includes:

 - Developing new station business cases 
and planning applications for stations at 
Willenhall, Darlaston, Moseley, Hazelwell 
and Kings Heath and agreeing all service 
requirements to serve the new stations;

 - Delivering improvements to gateway 
stations including University, Perry Barr 
and Snow Hill; 

• Continue to work with Midlands Connect to 
develop the Midlands Rail Hub. 

• Influence and input into the Department for 
Transport’s Rail Review.

Continue to invest in Metro

• Working with the Midland Metro Alliance and 
local authorities, we will begin operation of 
the Centenary Square services and continue 
with the construction of the Wolverhampton 
City Centre and Edgbaston/Five Ways 
extensions.

• Progress delivery of the Wednesbury-Brierley 
Hill extension. Key activity will include 
securing the supplementary compulsory 
purchase powers and transfer of the South 
Staffordshire railway corridor to enable 
commencement of the major structures and 
enabling utilities works.

• Secure final powers and funding for the 
Birmingham Eastside scheme and commence 
enabling works and land acquisition. 

• Progress development of the East Birmingham 
to Solihull extension and following public 
consultation and securing of funding “in 
principle”, submit a Transport & Works Act 
application for powers in 2020.

• Continue the ongoing programme of 
retrofitting traction batteries to the Urbos 3 
trams. 

• Progress with procurement of the 3rd 
Generation Trams in line with the Metro 
Investment Programme requirements.

• Working in partnership with Midland Metro 
Limited to ensure all reasonable steps 
are taken to ensure the safe, efficient and 
financially robust provision of the Metro 
service.

• Support Midland Metro Limited in managing 
the delivery of infrastructure renewal and 
replacement projects on Line One to secure 
the existing service.

Page 26



21

Invest and develop our Key Route Network

• We will continue to manage congestion and 
mitigate the impact of the wider regional 
transport investment programmes to keep 
the West Midlands moving building on our 
published Congestion Management Plan.

• Deliver a Regional Transport Coordination 
Centre (RTCC) in close collaboration with 
Local Highway Authorities and public 
transport operators. 

• Develop a communications and engagement 
strategy around disruption including planned 
and unplanned works with partners. 

• Complete a Memorandum of Understanding 
with HS2 in relation to managing 
collaboratively the required works that will 
disrupt the transport system.

Develop the future West Midlands Transport 
Strategy

• Begin work to update refresh the WMCA’s 
Transport Strategy, “Movement for Growth” 
with a view to exploring the opportunities for 
our transport networks beyond 2026. 

• Support the development of ‘Inclusive 
Growth Corridors’ including Walsall to 
Wolverhampton and Sandwell to Dudley, to 
maximise the impact of investment funding. 

• Deliver and further develop the Midlands 
Future Mobility initiative and Future Mobility 
Zone, including Local Authority business 
cases and demonstrators.

• Ensure local transport connectivity is 
embedded into the design and delivery 
of the HS2 stations at Curzon Street and 
Interchange Station.

• Publish a new approach to Park & Ride in 
the region to enable it to maximise its role 
in supporting access to the wider transport 
network.  

• Deliver on Park and Ride expansions including 
Bradley Lane, Longbridge and Tipton and 
continue to develop expansions at Sandwell 
& Dudley, Tame Bridge Parkway, Dudley Port, 

Whitlocks End and Tile Hill.  
• Implement a ‘Save a Space’ pilot to cover 

up to 500 charged for spaces by the end of 
2019/20 financial year.

• Actively explore powers and opportunities 
associated with the Bus Services Act 2017 to 
deliver the Vision for Bus.

 
smile

Support Inclusive Growth

• Provide a package of travel advice for 
businesses, educational and communities; 
targeting interventions where delivery of 
the transport infrastructure impacts are the 
greatest.

• Initiate new partnerships to develop travel 
support packages for low income groups 
such as unemployed people, young people, 
apprentices and trainees. 

• Deliver Enhancements to the National 
Concessionary Travel Scheme including the 
addition of a Women’s Concessionary Travel 
Pass (women affected by pension changes 
brought about by the 2011 Pension Act).

• Trial new Demand Responsive Transport 
(DRT) initiatives and continue with on-going 
improvements to the Ring and Ride scheme.

award

Ensure readiness for City of Culture and 
Commonwealth Games (CWG)

• Develop, consult and begin the 
implementation of a Games Transport Plan.

• Develop and adopt a first iteration of a Games 
Routes in partnership with Local Authorities 
and other games partners.

• Work with local authorities and wider 
stakeholders to explore temporary Park and 
Ride facilities for CWG.

• Specify and set out the procurement strategy 
for transport services to support the games 
client groups. (Games Family, Spectators and 
everyday users).

Page 27



22

Performance Monitoring: TfWM Delivery in 2019/20

The following performance measures will help us demonstrate TfWM activity is being delivered:

Key Performance Measure/Indicator 2019/20 target

Begin co-development of the Future Mobility Zone with partners Spring 2019

Launch phase 1 of the Vision for Bus delivery plan including air quality 
targets for buses, a bus infrastructure investment plan, and Bus Vision 
Delivery Plan

June/July 2019

Deliver further enhancements to the National Concessionary Travel Scheme June 2019

Improve bus stations and interchanges at Walsall and Coventry, and develop 
plans for the new Dudley bus and Metro interchange

Ongoing through 
2019/20

Continue Delivery of the Edgbaston / Five Ways Metro extension    
Commence main 
construction works 
June 2019

Enhancing Swift – delivered through a new fares and payment strategy Summer 2019

Continue delivery of the Wolverhampton City Centre Metro extension

Completion of civil 
engineering works 
- Bilston Street to 
Station Drive

Deliver a WM Metro asset management system and asset renewal 
programme.

Ongoing through 
2019/20

Deliver a series of Park and Ride expansions including Longbridge
Ongoing through 
2019/20

Publish a Commonwealth Games (CWG) Transport Plan for consultation Autumn 2019

Complete with partners a procurement strategy and delivery plan for 
transport operations for the CWG

Autumn 2019

Continued overleaf
Page 28



23

Order up to 25 3rd Generation Trams to operate on the extended Metro 
network

Autumn 2019

Commence work on the Birmingham Eastside and Wednesbury Brierley Hill 
Metro extensions

Autumn 2019

Open a new travel centre and customer information point at New Street 
Station

Autumn 2019

Conclude a Park and ride development framework and implementation plan Autumn 2019

Secure business case and planning approvals for schemes within the West 
Midlands Rail Programme including New Stations Packages

Autumn/Winter 2019

Deliver Snow Hill Third Access Winter 2019

Deliver the first phase of the Regional Transport Coordination Centre 
(RTCC)

December 2019

Identify a first iteration of the CWG routes that will improve journey time 
reliability for the CWG and everyday users.

December 2019

Commence passenger services on the Centenary Square Metro extension December 2019

Commence the Sprint-Bus Rapid Transit delivery programme for new routes 
and agree the operating model

January 2020

Set up the Strategic Road Safety Partnership and produce the delivery plan Spring 2020

What we are trying to have an impact on

Our activity, support and influence will enable and contribute to various long term or ‘whole system’ 
outcomes within which TfWM activity plays some part:

Regional Outcome Indicators

An increase in the % of residents able to access 3 or more strategic centres including Birmingham 
City Centre, accessible by public transport within 45 mins travel time in the am peak

Improved journey time reliability

Mode Share of all journeys by car, public transport, cycling & walking

A reduction in the percentage of car journeys single occupancy

An increase in cycling journeys

Improved network performance (punctuality and reliability)

Improved safety and security on the network

Reduction in the number of killed and seriously injured (KSI’s) on the road network

Page 29



24

Links to policy, plans and strategies

Plan/Strategy Description

Movement for Growth - 
West Midlands Strategic 
Transport Plan

The Movement for Growth Strategic Plan provides a high level policy 
framework and overall long term approach for improving the transport 
system serving the West Midlands. It is supported by a Delivery Plan 
that sets out what transport initiatives and schemes the WMCA will 
deliver by 2026.

2026 Delivery Plan for 
Transport

To support the delivery of Movement for Growth, the WMCA approved 
the 2026 Delivery Plan for Transport in September 2017. The plan 
comprises of the delivery plan and two supporting sets of documents:
• 16 Corridor Strategies
• Four Dashboards of Schemes

Congestion Management 
Plan

The Congestion Management Plan identifies the causes and issues of 
congestion and how we will deliver the step change that we need to 
improve capacity, improve efficiency and manage demand. WMCA 
will take a holistic approach and work with a variety of organisations to 
manage congestion, air quality and road safety.

Strategic Vision for Bus

A strategic Vision for Bus in the West Midlands has been adopted to 
develop a clear vision of what the region requires from its bus network. 
 
The vision sets out nine bold objectives for improving bus travel in the 
region, exploring new powers under the Bus Services Act 2017 and 
developing a supporting delivery plan to ensure the objectives can and 
will be achieved.

WM Rail Investment 
Strategy

The Rail Investment Strategy, led by West Midlands Rail Executive 
(WMRE) (on behalf of TfWM), outlines a 30 year strategy for short, 
medium and long term ambitious plans to provide improved rail services 
and stations across the region.

Relevant WMCA boards, other delivery governance and partners

WMCA Board Access agendas, reports and information about membership here.

Transport Delivery 
Committee

Access agendas, reports and information about membership here.

Delivery and operational partners: Midland Metro Alliance, Midland Metro Limited 
Partnerships: West Midlands Rail Executive, West Midlands Station Alliance, Bus Alliance, Midlands 
Connect, Safer Travel Partnership, Road Safety Partnership, Regional Strategic Resilience Partnership
Other stakeholders and partners: HM Government, Local Authorities, HS2, West Midlands Police, 
West Midlands Fire Service, Highways England, Network Rail, Birmingham 2022

Page 30

https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/1371/2016-06-01-mfg-summary-document_wmca.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/1371/2016-06-01-mfg-summary-document_wmca.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/1371/2016-06-01-mfg-summary-document_wmca.pdf
https://www.tfwm.org.uk/media/2539/2026-delivery-plan-for-transport.pdf
https://www.tfwm.org.uk/media/2539/2026-delivery-plan-for-transport.pdf
https://www.tfwm.org.uk/media/2539/2026-delivery-plan-for-transport.pdf
https://www.tfwm.org.uk/media/3065/tfwm_cm-plan-aw_v3_lr_spreads.pdf
https://www.tfwm.org.uk/media/3065/tfwm_cm-plan-aw_v3_lr_spreads.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s2240/Appendix.pdf
http://wmre.org.uk/media/14045/west-midlands-rail-report-final-version-jan-2019.pdf
http://wmre.org.uk/media/14045/west-midlands-rail-report-final-version-jan-2019.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=137
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=134


2525

Page 31



26

Portfolio Lead Member
Cllr Mike Bird,
Leader of Walsall Council

Lead WMCA Officer
Gareth Bradford, 
Director of Housing & 
Regeneration

To enable the delivery of 215,000 new homes by 2031, significantly 
increasing the proportion of affordable housing and driving new quality 
and design benchmarks.

Housing & Land

home

26

Page 32



27

We are developing the UK’s most successful, 
innovative and delivery focused housing and 
regeneration programme, combining the very best 
of the public and private sectors to drive inclusive 
growth in all parts of the region. Delivery runs 
through everything we do. The WMCA Housing 
and Regeneration Team are at the forefront of 
implementing WMCA’s inclusive growth mission, 
and demonstrating the links between housing, 
skills, transport, health and economic growth. A 
whole team approach that combines working with 
local councils, LEPs, Whitehall and the private 
sector sits front and centre of the approach.

The role of the WMCA is centred 
on four key delivery-focused areas

• Setting a strategic investment and delivery 
strategy to unlock housing and employment 
delivery on brownfield sites in the pursuit of 
inclusive growth 

• Attracting new, and deploying existing, public 
and private investment and expertise to 
support delivery of inclusive growth 

• Building new and strengthening existing 
partnerships and relationships with investors, 
government and other public sector 
organisations

• Direct intervention and deal-making

Overall aim and ambition

To enable the delivery of 215,000 new homes by 
2031, significantly increasing the proportion of 
affordable housing and driving new quality and 
design benchmarks.

Summary of activity in 2019/20
To make progress towards our overall aim and 
ambition, the following projects and activity will 
be delivered during 2019/20:

chart-bar

Setting a strategic investment and delivery 
strategy for housing and land

• Publish a regional spatial investment and 
delivery plan (SIDP)

• Launch the single commissioning framework, 
consistent process and funding portal for all 
devolved housing and land funds

• Deploy devolved housing and land funds and 
WMCA resource to secure a step change in 
the quality, quantum and pace of housing and 
employment delivery

• Through leadership of the One Public Estate 
Programme, progress development of an 
integrated approach to public land disposals 
strategy and pipeline

• Support the delivery of nationally significant 
projects and programmes

Page 33



28

chart-bar

Delivering a pipeline of land for development 
and investment, unlocking and accelerating 
delivery on challenging brownfield sites

• Unlock stalled and complex housing and 
commercial sites through a range of 
intervention measures.

• Develop a regional pipeline of housing and 
commercial/employment sites.

• Develop attractive investment proposals 
which can be put to the market.

• Create a comprehensive pipeline of 
brownfield housing and employment 
opportunities on key transport corridors and 
in town centres.

home

Increasing the supply of the right homes in the 
right places for region
•  Continue to work with councils and other 

partners to increase the supply of new homes, 
making clear progress towards the target of 
16,500 new homes per annum (from 12,000 in 
2017).

• Continue to work with councils and other 
partners to increase the supply of affordable 
and social housing in the region, making clear 
progress towards the ambition of tripling the 
supply from 2,000 homes to 6,000.

•  Submit an ambitious regional affordable and 
social housing proposal to government.

•  Secure bespoke new supply agreements with 
housing associations, large and small, existing 
and new to the region.

arrow-up

Transforming the quality of development

• Secure a nationally leading advanced 
methods of construction programme 
including a new Advanced Methods of 
Construction (AMC) strategy and route map.

• Support the take up of AMC in new 
development proposals but particularly on all 
sites where WMCA has an interest eg through 
landownership or funding.

• Improve standards of design through the 
development and implementation of a new 
regional design charter.

hard-hat

Brokering new funding and investment for 
development, infrastructure and land 

• Establish new loan funds, where required, for 
housing and commercial development.

• Submit a revised bid to the national Housing 
Infrastructure Fund.

• Secure new partnerships with developers 
and investors, supported by the new regional 
commercial property forum.

• Launch the West Midlands Investment 
Prospectus at MIPIM Cannes (March 2019) 
and maintain/promote it following that.

city

Accelerating place-making and regeneration in 
town centres and beyond

• Jointly develop with local councils and 
implement delivery and investment plans for 
five pilot town centres.

• Launch a second wave of town centre 
projects.

• Support bids from the region to the 
government’s Town Centre Fund.

• Jointly create with local councils 
corridor investment plans for Walsall to 
Wolverhampton and Wednesbury to Brierley 
Hill as the first pilots of a wider inclusive 
growth corridors programme.

Page 34



29

Performance Monitoring: WMCA Delivery in 2019/20

The following performance measures will help us demonstrate WMCA activity is being delivered:

Key Performance Measure/Indicator 2019/20 target

Publication of a regional spatial investment and delivery plan (SIDP) By end of June 2019

Development of five Town centre delivery and investment packages By end of September 2019

Launch A Regional Design Charter By Autumn 2019

Publish a summary version of the single commissioning framework for 
housing and land investments

By end of September 2019

Work with local councils to ensure local plans across the region are 
reviewed and/or updated (as necessary) to enable the delivery of 
215,000 homes by 2031

Continual process

What we are trying to have an impact on

Our activity, support and influence will enable and contribute to various long term or ‘whole system’ 
outcomes within which WMCA  activity plays some part:

Regional Outcome Indicators

Progress towards the target of 16,500 new homes built per annum by 2031

Progress towards an increase in additional affordable homes per annum

Proportion of new housing provided on brownfield land

An increase in the number of new homes built with modular techniques

Page 35



30

Links to policy, plans and strategies

Plan/Strategy Description

Land Commission Report: 
February 2017

The West Midlands Land Commission was set up in Spring 2016 to 
take a fresh look at West Midlands land supply and to consider what 
measures could be initiated and undertaken to ensure an improved 
supply of developable land from both a strategic and a regional 
perspective.

Land Delivery Action Plan: 
September 2017

The Action Plan is a response to the Land Commission Report findings. 
It represents a statement of intent for the West Midlands and a 
road map for collaborative working at scale. It crucially provided 
a springboard for securing a Housing Deal with government and a 
significant share of the government’s Housing Infrastructure Fund for 
the region.

Housing Deal: March 2018

The Deal is based on WMCA’s commitment to building 215,000 new 
homes in the region by 2031. Announced in March 2018 it confirmed a 
successful bid for funding from the Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) 
and the securing of £100m for a Land Fund to decontaminate brownfield 
sites in the region.

Relevant WMCA boards, other delivery governance and partners

Housing and Land Delivery 
Board

Access agendas, reports and information about membership here.

WMCA Board Access agendas, reports and information about membership here.

Investment Board Access agendas, reports and information about membership here.

Partners and stakeholders we work with include: Local Enterprise Partnerships, Local Authorities, 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), Homes England, National Housing 
Federation, British Property Forum, Home Builders Federation, Public Health England, West Midlands 
One Public Estate, West Midlands Housing Association Partnership, Registered Providers, Developers, 
and Investors

Page 36

https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s448/Land%20Commission%20Final%20Report.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s448/Land%20Commission%20Final%20Report.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s633/Appendix%202.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s633/Appendix%202.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/689710/W_Mids_overview.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=150
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=137
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=135


3131

Page 37



32

Portfolio Lead Member
Cllr George Duggins, 
Leader of Coventry City 
Council

Lead WMCA Officer
Julie Nugent,
Director of Productivity 
& Skills

To see more people move into employment and higher skilled jobs so 
that all communities benefit from the region’s economic growth and 
businesses can access the skills that they need to grow.

Productivity & Skills

hammer

32

Page 38



33

We are committed to ensuring that every resident 
has the opportunity to reach their potential and 
that business growth is accelerated through 
access to a skilled workforce. We will focus on 
improving skill levels, tackling poor connectivity 
and increasing employment opportunities. We will 
help more people access high quality training and 
employment opportunities, increase skills levels 
in priority growth sectors and create a responsive 
regional skills system that provides people with 
the skills to sustain good jobs and careers.

Overall aim and ambition

We want to see more people move into 
employment and higher skilled jobs so that all 
communities benefit from the region’s economic 
growth and businesses can access the skills that 
they need to grow.

Summary of activity in 2019/20

To make progress towards our ambition the 
following projects and work streams will be 
delivered:

users

Prepare our young people for future life and 
work

• Develop a regional approach to improve the 
focus and impact of careers education for 
young people.

• Trial a digital platform for work experience 
• Publish a menu of mentoring services for 

young people.
• Engage 3,000 young people in the Mayor’s 

Mentors programme.

user-tie

Accelerate the take up of good quality 
apprenticeships across the region

• Increase in good quality apprenticeship starts 
across the West Midlands, particularly in 
STEM and priority sectors.

• £10m levy funding committed to West 
Midlands apprenticeship fund.

user-graduate

Create regional networks of specialist technical 
education and training

• Develop an investment plan for technical 
education in the West Midlands.

• Agree a regional approach to employer 
engagement and the sourcing of good work 
experience placements.

• More higher level skills (L3) delivered through 
the Adult Education Budget (AEB):

 - Construction 
 - Digital 
 - Automotive 
 - Professional services 

• 745 people trained through the Construction 
Gateway with 373 moving into work.

• Develop and deliver a West Midlands Digital 
Skills Plan.

• Establish the West Midlands Digital training 
offer for employers and individuals. 

briefcase

Support inclusive growth by giving more 
people the skills to get and sustain good jobs 
and careers

• Support 600 16-24 year old unemployed 
young people to be engaged and supported 
through progression coaches.

• Establish a framework for high quality 
employment support, building on best 
practice across the region, to include 
recommendations for national funding 
bodies to co-design and commission regional 
support in future. 

• Through the Connecting Communities 
Employment Support Pilot support people 
moving into work.

Page 39



34

wallet

Adult Education Budget (AEB)

• Develop a new approach to commissioning 
and delivering provision funded through the 
Adult Education Budget to include a shift in 
higher level skills delivered in priority sectors, 
pre-apprenticeships and targeted training to 
improve employment and careers prospects 
for unemployed and low skilled adults.

• Promote the concept of a skills ecosystem 
for the region which recognises the 
interdependence of schools, FE, HE, adult and 
community learning and private and voluntary 
training providers and facilitates stronger 
collaboration, with employers, to address 
regional skills needs.

Page 40



35

Performance Monitoring: WMCA Delivery in 2019/20

The following performance measures will help us demonstrate WMCA activity is being delivered:

Key Performance Measure/Indicator 2019/20 target

Mayor’s Mentors – number of people being mentored 3,000

Number of people trained through construction and digital retraining 
funds

745

Number of people into construction and digital jobs following WMCA 
training

373

Apprenticeship Levy funding committed to levy pool £10m

Number of young people engaged through progression coaches 600

People engaged and supported through Connecting Communities 2,000

What we are trying to have an impact on

Our activity, support and influence will enable and contribute to various long term or ‘whole system’ 
outcomes within which WMCA activity plays some part:

Regional Outcome Indicators

A reduction in youth unemployment 

A reduction in unemployment and economic inactivity

A reduction in % of population with no qualifications

An increase in % of population with level 3+ qualifications

An increase in apprenticeship starts

Page 41



36

Links to policy, plans and strategies

Plan/Strategy Description

Regional Skills Plan

A high performing labour market has a crucial role to play in enabling 
local people, businesses and the wider West Midlands economy to 
flourish and thrive. The Strategic Economic Plan sets out the long-
term ambition for the region. The Regional Skills Plan details how the 
WMCA, working with key partners, will prioritise actions to deliver on 
that ambition. The plan is designed to ensure that economic growth is 
underpinned by a strong regional skills base, where more people from 
our diverse communities are given the access to skills and opportunities 
that they need to succeed.

Skills Deal

This is the first Skills Deal to be agreed with government and reflects 
over £100m of investment to support skills in the West Midlands. The 
Deal is based on cross-departmental support for our Regional Skills 
Plan – with the Department for Education (DfE), Department for Work 
and Pensions (DWP) and the Department for Culture, Media and 
Sport (DCMS) all pledging their support.  The Deal is part of a new 
and ongoing relationship with government – to deliver more for the 
businesses and residents of the West Midlands.

Local Industrial Strategy

The Strategy sets out the strategic priorities and opportunities for 
driving growth and productivity improvements.  It identifies four major 
national and global strategic opportunities where the region has the 
existing and emerging strengths and supply chains needed to make a 
major contribution to the new markets being created by global trends.

Relevant WMCA boards, other delivery governance and partners

WMCA Board Access agendas, reports and information about membership here.

Partners and stakeholders we work with include: Local Authorities, Businesses, Universities, Colleges, 
and training providers, Central Government

Page 42

https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/2274/regional-skills-plan.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/2344/west-midlands-skills-agreement.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/802091/west-midlands-local-industrial-strategy-single-page.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=137


37

Portfolio Lead Member

Cllr Ian Brookfield, 
Leader of City of 
Wolverhampton Council

Lead WMCA Officer

Julia Goldsworthy, 
Director of Strategy

To create the conditions to support inclusive economic growth that 
help sustain the economic renaissance of the region and make the West 
Midlands the best place to grow up, live and work.

Economy & Innovation

chart-line

37

Page 43



38

We are committed to sustaining the economic 
renaissance of the region, building a cleaner, 
more resilient and more inclusive economy, 
transforming the economic environment, and 
increasing the productivity of our businesses. 
We believe every resident should have the 
opportunity to contribute to and benefit from 
inclusive economic growth.

As a Local Industrial Strategy trailblazer, we 
have identified four major national and global 
economic opportunities, where the evidence 
shows that the West Midlands has both existing 
strengths and the ability to make a major future 
contribution across all its sectors.  We have 
developed a clear assessment of what makes the 
region what it is, the strengths that set it up well 
for the future, and where barriers to growth and 
productivity need to be addressed.  

The strategy then sets out the actions (locally-
led and in partnership with government) that 
we are going to take. These include maximising 
the impact of key investments from HS2, to 
the Birmingham 2022 Commonwealth Games 
and 2021 Coventry City of Culture which will 
provide major opportunities for local firms 
and communities, a showcase of the region to 
investors and visitors and a lasting legacy for 
people living in the West Midlands.

Overall aim and ambition

Our overarching strategic objectives are to:

• Create conditions to support clean and 
inclusive economic growth that help make the 
West Midlands the best place to grow up, live 
and work. 

• Embed innovation in the wider economy and 
in public services in the region, supported by 
the activities of the WMCA.

• Provide a “best in class” economic research, 
intelligence and data function, working with 
partners through the Office for Data Analytics 
(ODA).

• Deliver effectively with partners - building 
strong collaborative relationships across the 
public, private and third sectors.

Summary of activity in 2019/20

To make progress towards these ambitions the 
following projects and work streams will be 
delivered during 2019/20:

Creating the conditions to support inclusive 
economic growth

• Publish a West Midlands Local Industrial 
Strategy (WMLIS).

• Identify key strategic priority projects and 
programmes with LEPs to support LIS delivery

• Develop new WMLIS delivery infrastructure 
to support pursuits of the four major market 
opportunities.

• Review and influence funding frameworks to 
support LIS delivery (including consultation 
on post Local Growth and Shared Prosperity 
funds).

• Support the regional preparations for 
Brexit, through deployment of pooled 
Brexit Contingency funding, support to the 
Birmingham Brexit Commission and the 
WMCA Brexit Economic Contingency Group. 

• Develop a strategic approach to the creative 
economy, including a dedicated “scale up” 
programme to help creative businesses to 
grow.

• Equip the WMCA with the tools to deliver 
programmes with impact (evidence led policy 
and performance, economic intelligence, 
performance reporting, the annual State 
of The Region economic report, the Office 
for Data Analytics, programme and risk 
management, policy research and evaluation). 

Page 44



39

Performance Monitoring: WMCA Delivery in 2019/20

The following performance measures will help us demonstrate WMCA activity is being delivered:

Key Performance Measure/Indicator 2019/20 target

Launch Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) June 2019 and ongoing

Identify key strategic projects and programmes for LIS delivery June-November 2019

Establish new LIS delivery infrastructure July 2019 onwards

Develop proposals for West Midlands Innovation Programme June 2019

Inform development of funding framework resource to support shared 
strategic economic objectives

March 2020

Deploy Brexit Contingency Pooled fund Oct 2019

Develop programme of economic intelligence reporting 
June 2019, then 
ongoing

Deliver Creative scale up pilot
June 2019, then 
ongoing

What we are trying to have an impact on

Our activity, support and influence will enable and contribute to various long term or ‘whole system’ 
outcomes within which WMCA activity plays some part:

Regional Outcome Indicators

An increase in Gross Value Added (GVA) and Inclusive Growth metrics

An increase in labour productivity

An increase in wage levels

An increase in work participation and progression

A clear understanding of business perceptions 

An increase in business survival rates 

An increase in workforce jobs 

Page 45



40

Links to policy, plans and strategies

Plan/Strategy Description

Local Industrial Strategy

The Strategy sets out the strategic priorities and opportunities for 
driving growth and productivity improvements.  It identifies four major 
national and global strategic opportunities where the region has the 
existing and emerging strengths and supply chains needed to make a 
major contribution to the new markets being created by global trends.

Strategic Economic Plan
The West Midlands Strategic Economic Plan
(SEP) sets out the vision, objectives and actions to improve the quality of 
life for everyone who lives and works in the West Midlands.

Inclusive Growth Decision-
Making Tool

This tool can be used to evaluate the contribution of
projects to inclusive growth in the West Midlands. The Decision-
Making Tool is designed to assess if a project is likely to make a positive 
contribution to inclusive growth.

West Midlands State of 
the Region

An annual review of economic performance across the region. Report, 
written on behalf of the WMCA and its partners, is a stocktake of where 
the region stands, it's a snapshot on where we're doing well and where 
we need to work together to improve the economic performance of the 
region.

Relevant WMCA boards, other delivery governance and partners

WMCA Board Access agendas, reports and information about membership here.

Partners and stakeholders we work with include: Strategic Economic Development Board,  Local 
Enterprise Partnerships, Local Authorities, Birmingham Brexit Commission, and West Midlands Growth 
Company

Page 46

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/802091/west-midlands-local-industrial-strategy-single-page.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/1382/full-sep-document.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s2911/Appendix.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s2911/Appendix.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/2435/state-of-the-region-2018.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/2435/state-of-the-region-2018.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=135


41

Portfolio Lead 
Member
Cllr Ian Courts,
Leader of Solihull 
Metropolitan 
Borough Council

Lead WMCA Officer 
(Environment)

Dr. Henry Kippin, 
Director of Public 
Service Reform

Lead TfWM Officer 
(HS2)

Laura Shoaf,
Managing Director of 
TfWM

To make a significant positive impact on our environment and deliver 
clean growth that improves the quality of life for everyone in the region.

Environment, Energy & 
HS2

leaf

41

Lead WMCA Officer 
(Energy)

Julia Goldsworthy, 
Director of Strategy

Page 47



42

We are committed to the delivery of clean, 
inclusive and resilient growth as part of overall 
WMCA vision to improve the overall quality of 
life for everyone.  We will do this through a long-
term and integrated approach of delivering jobs, 
homes, and transport that will also improve our 
environment and communities. We will target 
air pollution and sustainability, ensuring a focus 
on clean air, energy and resource efficiency. We 
will improve competitiveness and stimulate new 
technology and business.

Overall aim and ambition

To make a significant positive impact on our 
environment and deliver clean growth that 
improves the quality of life for everyone in the 
region.

Summary of activity in 2019/20

To make progress towards the aim and ambition 
the following projects and work streams will be 
delivered:

Environment

• Continue to deliver the cross-party 
Environment Board work plan to improve 
how environment is integrated across WMCA 
strategy, programmes and operations to 
meet WMCA improvement targets, including 
development and funding standards. This will 
be published in the form of a strategy and 
action plan to help communicate and monitor 
existing progress.

• Support the development of a regional 
carbon reduction target to reflect the Paris 
agreement, UK Climate Change Committee 
advice, and ambitions set out in our Local 
Industrial Strategy; and support cross-
authority and sector collaboration to develop 
a delivery plan.     

• Develop a low emission strategy and action 
plan – working with local authorities, TfWM 
and partners to coordinate good practice and 
support for local action to tackle air quality 
and impact on health while also reducing 
greenhouse gasses.

• Build and deliver on priorities within UK’s 
first clean growth Local Industrial Strategy to 
support clean growth businesses eg improved 
coordination of existing support, competition 
for new low carbon products to address local 
demand, identifying opportunities from the 
‘circular economy’.  

• Focus on greenspaces and waterways 
– by developing a natural environment 
infrastructure investment plan to help 
coordinate and attract investment to improve 
a network of local green and blue spaces.

• Carry out a review of existing good practice 
within WMCA area and partners that could be 
scaled up eg good practice in procurement, 
waste and planning policies

Energy

• Ensure the energy infrastructure of the region 
supports a competitive industrial base, clean 
growth and social inclusion.

• Institutionalise Energy Capital within the CA 
as the delivery body for the Regional Energy 
Strategy and secure resources to deliver. 

• Support further development with partners 
of implementation of new Regional Energy 
Strategy by Energy Capital.

HS2

• Work with partners to continue advocating for 
HS2 as a fundamental building block on which 
the region’s economic growth, transport and 
sustainable/inclusive/green growth strategies 
are based.

• Work with partners and the HS2 Growth 
Delivery Board to ensure the scheme is 
delivered in conjunction with wider strategic 
regeneration schemes such as UK Central and 
the Curzon masterplan.

• Challenge and support partners and 
stakeholders to ensure the region mitigates 
against adverse impacts of the building of the 
scheme and ensure the overall delivery of the 
growth strategy benefits the whole region.

Page 48



43

Performance Monitoring: WMCA Delivery in 2019/20

The following performance measures will help us demonstrate WMCA activity is being delivered:

Key Performance Measure/Indicator 2019/20 target

Publish a WMCA environment action plan (including carbon reduction 
targets and a pipeline of potential investments to support clean growth) and 
internal environmental improvement plan

Autumn 2019

Regional review of air quality, Action Plan and Delivery Unit launched – 
including regional approach to electric vehicle charging

September 2019

Launch of Natural Capital Investment Strategy and Delivery Programme 
– including key local site for funding and ‘greening’ existing and planned 
TfWM and partners infrastructure

October 2019

Set out new green business growth targets as part of the Local Industrial 
Strategy implementation 

November 2019

Clean growth challenge Autumn 2019

Progress discussions with central government about Energy and Power 
devolution

March 2020

What we are trying to have an impact on

Our activity, support and influence will enable and contribute to various long term or ‘whole system’ 
outcomes within which WMCA activity plays some part:

Regional Outcome Indicators

Improvement in annual national CA sustainability index 2019 report

Clean growth through carbon reduction and increase in productivity (including growth of green 
businesses)

Improvement in Air quality and impact on health

Resource efficiency: waste, water, energy (including fuel poverty) 

Natural capital: quality of green and blue space in terms of economic, social and environmental 
benefits 

Page 49



44

Links to policy, plans and strategies

Plan/Strategy Description

Local Industrial Strategy

The Strategy sets out the strategic priorities and opportunities for 
driving growth and productivity improvements.  It identifies four major 
national and global strategic opportunities where the region has the 
existing and emerging strengths and supply chains needed to make a 
major contribution to the new markets being created by global trends.

Strategic Economic Plan
The West Midlands Strategic Economic Plan
(SEP) sets out the vision, objectives and actions to improve the quality of 
life for everyone who lives and works in the West Midlands.

Regional Energy Strategy

The Strategy sets out a vision for energy across the region by 2030 
which includes:
• reducing energy costs for our strategic industrial sectors to at least 
match those of our international competitors;
• reducing the incidence of fuel poverty across our region by hitting 
current government targets for energy efficient housing five years ahead 
of schedule;
• delivering the West Midlands’ share of national and global carbon 
budgets by reducing regional carbon emissions;
• creating a regional energy infrastructure that adds £1bn to GVA by 
2025 by putting the region at the leading edge of the global energy and 
transport systems transition.

Relevant WMCA boards, other delivery governance and partners

WMCA Board Access agendas, reports and information about membership here.

Environment Board Access agendas, reports and information about membership here.

Partners and stakeholders we work with include: Local Authorities, Energy Capital, Sustainability 
West Midlands, HS2 Growth Delivery Board

Page 50

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/802091/west-midlands-local-industrial-strategy-single-page.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/1382/full-sep-document.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s2435/Appendix.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=137
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=152


45

Portfolio Lead Member
Cllr Yvonne Davies, Leader of 
Sandwell Metropolitan Borough 
Council

Lead WMCA Officer
Dr. Henry Kippin, 
Director of Public Service 
Reform

To deliver on the promise of more inclusive growth, with the confidence 
to more deliberately shape investment, infrastructure and services 
around social as well as economic goals.

Public Service Reform & 
Social Economy

users

45

Page 51



46

We are committed to creating a region that is 
confident about its public services, and which 
does more collaborative work across services, 
sectors and silos to innovate and drive better 
outcomes for citizens.  We want a region in which 
citizens and communities have a real voice, 
and are able to influence the role, policy and 
behaviour of its Mayor, combined authority and 
public services.

Overall aim and ambition

We want the West Midlands to deliver on 
the promise of more inclusive growth, with 
the confidence to more deliberately shape 
investment, infrastructure and services around 
social as well as economic goals.

Summary of activity in 2019/20

To make progress towards our long term goals 
the following projects and work streams will be 
focused on:

• Inclusive Growth – Providing the tools and 
capability to create a more deliberate and 
socially purposeful model of economic 
growth, measured not only by how fast 
or aggressive it is; but also by how well 
it is created and shared across the whole 
population and place, and by the social and 
environmental outcomes it realises people 
in our most vulnerable and marginalised 
communities.

• Public Service Collaboration – To 
support public service and whole-system 
collaboration across the West Midlands 
that delivers better outcomes for citizens, 
supports more inclusive development and 
inclusive infrastructure, and helps to close the 
region’s fiscal gap over the long term.  This 
includes substantial building blocks for future 
reform such as digital infrastructure and 
enabling cross-agency collaboration.

people-carry

Inclusive Growth Unit

We have established the first embedded Inclusive 
Growth Unit within a combined authority which 
will continue to deliver several programmes of 
work including an inclusive growth investment 
toolkit, an inclusive growth framework, population 
health intelligence function, and a credible citizen 
engagement programme.  

users

Social Economy Taskforce

In 2018 we established an independent Social 
Economy Taskforce (made up of sector experts), 
which will report during 2019 on a suite of 
proposed interventions including a stronger social 
value policy and the creation of regional social 
finance mechanisms to help grow social economy 
organisations in key industry sectors.

home

Homelessness & Complex Needs

Working with the Homelessness Taskforce to 
develop its objectives in support of statutory 
authorities – including the £9.6m Housing First 
pilot across the region, supporting local actions 
to combat rough sleeping, and developing a 
‘Commitment to Collaborate’ across public 
services to help demand management and 
preventative outcomes for rough sleepers.

Page 52



47

balance-scale

Vulnerability, Violence Prevention and Youth 
Justice

Continuing a joint programme of work in 
partnership with the PCC which focuses on 
vulnerable young people within the justice 
system, which we will be using to develop a 
platform for better regional collaboration to 
support violence prevention through 2019/20. We 
will contribute substantively to the development 
of a regional Violence Prevention Unit, in 
partnership with the SCC, WMP, PHE and other 
public service partners.

user-shield

Collaboration to Support Radical Prevention

Including substantial work supporting evolving 
partnership arrangements with police and fire 
service partners, and building shared Public 
Service Reform commitments around prevention, 
addressing vulnerability and supporting greater 
place-based collaboration.

Performance Monitoring: WMCA Delivery in 2019/20

The following performance measures will help us demonstrate WMCA activity is being delivered:

Key Performance Measure/Indicator 2019/20 target

Launch of Inclusive Growth toolkit and Civil Society Engagement Report June 2019 

Adoption of Inclusive Growth toolkit and approach within at least three pilot 
initiatives within the region

December 2019

Launch of regional violence prevention unit (with WMCA supporting 
partners), strategic reform of regional support for vulnerability and 
publication of criminal justice reform and vulnerability evidence base

Summer 2019

Commence veteran's mental health and homelessness work programmes July 2019

Completed Year 1 delivery of Housing First November 2019

Launch of the Social Economy Taskforce Report July 2019

Creation of a number of public service use cases through the 5G and Digital 
public services programme

Quarterly

Page 53



48

What we are trying to have an impact on

Our activity, support and influence will enable and contribute to various long term or ‘whole system’ 
outcomes within which WMCA activity plays some part:

Regional Outcome Indicators

Increased GDHI per person

% of people living in the 10% most deprived areas

Better employment, health and wider outcomes for people with complex needs

Increased (i) annual average earnings of full-time working residents (ii) % of employees earning above 
UK living wage

% of children achieving a good level of development at the end of reception

Top-quarter in the Social Mobility Index

Reduced reoffending rates (per 100,000)

Reduced no. of first-time entrants to Youth Justice System

Links to policy, plans and strategies

Plan/Strategy Description

Strategic Economic Plan
The West Midlands Strategic Economic Plan
(SEP) sets out the vision, objectives and actions to improve the quality of 
life for everyone who lives and works in the West Midlands.

Inclusive Growth Decision-
Making Tool

This tool can be used to evaluate the contribution of
projects to inclusive growth in the West Midlands.
The Decision-making Tool is designed to assess if
a project is likely to make a positive contribution
to inclusive growth.

Relevant WMCA boards, other delivery governance and partners

WMCA Board Access agendas, reports and information about membership here.

Public Service Reform 
Board

Access agendas, reports and information about membership here.

Partners and stakeholders we work with include: Local Authorities, Social Economy Taskforce, Police 
& Crime Commissioner, West Midlands Police, West Midlands Fire and Rescue Service, Public Health 
England, SCC, Homelessness Taskforce

Page 54

https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/1382/full-sep-document.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s2911/Appendix.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s2911/Appendix.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=137
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=151


49

Portfolio Lead Member
Cllr Patrick Harley, 
Dudley Metropolitan 
Borough Council

Lead WMCA Officer (Digital)
Dr. Henry Kippin,
Director of Public Service 
Reform

To provide a focus on the opportunity that digital transformation 
provides for our economy, public services and wider society, and also 
reflect the intent to develop a more strategic approach to culture across 
the region.

Culture & Digital

desktop

49

Lead WMCA Officer (Culture)

Julia Goldsworthy,
Director of Strategy

Page 55



50

These are exciting times for culture and digital in 
the region, preparing for major events such as the 
City of Culture and Commonwealth Games, and 
implementing the country’s first largescale 5G test 
bed.

This new portfolio focuses on increasing the 
social and economic benefits from those culture 
activities and digital transformation in the region, 
including for our public services and wider 
society. It also reflects the intent to develop a 
more strategic approach to culture across the 
region. The portfolio contributes to and interacts 
with many of the other portfolios in this Plan – for 
example the Economy and Innovation portfolio 
regarding creative industries. 

Summary of activity in 2019/20

To make progress towards our long term goals 
the following projects and work streams will be 
delivered:

wifi

West Midlands 5G

The 5G programme will see the deployment 
of circa £100m of government, private sector 
and regional contributions to an emerging 5G 
mobile network for the region. This includes 
early test-beds focused on health and public 
service applications, mobility and advanced 
manufacturing and citizen connectivity. 

laptop

Digital Growth & PSR

We will continue to develop our capacity to 
support digital public services across the region, 
supporting local authorities and public service 
partners to realise benefits of new digital service 
models, and build readiness to take advantage 
of 5G.  We will work in partnership with skills 
colleagues on the digital skills programme, 
and ensure that we support the strong digital 
underpinning of the WM Industrial Strategy.

archway

Develop a Strategic Approach to Culture

Including a new Cultural Leadership Board 
promoting wider leadership and involvement 
in our region’s diverse range of culture. The 
purpose of the Board will be to maximise the 
contribution of culture to delivering clean and 
inclusive growth, explore the potential for new 
approaches to funding, and support collaboration 
and accessibility. 

award

Working Towards the Commonwealth Games 
and Coventry City of Culture

Working with partners to maximise the impact 
of the Birmingham 2022 Commonwealth Games 
and 2021 Coventry City of Culture as major 
opportunities for local firms and communities - a 
showcase of the region to investors and visitors, 
and a lasting legacy for people living in the West 
Midlands.

The work programme and further specific 
activities will be developed during the year.

Page 56



51

Performance Monitoring: WMCA Delivery in 2019/20

The following performance measures will help us demonstrate WMCA activity is being delivered:

Key Performance Measure/Indicator 2019/20 target

Launch of WM5G delivery programme – including ‘quick wins’ establishing 
5G connectivity within regional centres.

June 2019 (with 
ongoing deliverables 
through 2019/20) 

Develop and deliver WMCA Digital Strategy to support public service 
collaboration and leverage 5G

November 2019

Establish new Cultural Leadership Board. July 2019

What we are trying to have an impact on

Our activity, support and influence will enable and contribute to various long term or ‘whole system’ 
outcomes within which WMCA activity plays some part:

Regional Outcome Indicators

Staged roll out of 5G connectivity across sites in the West Midlands

Establishment of 5G ‘accelerator’ facilities within key sites in the region

‘Quick wins’ in digital public services, industry 4.0 and mobility through the 5G programme 

New 5G sites, expansion of connectivity on the public estate

Substantial private and government investment into the region via 5G programme

Relevant WMCA boards, other delivery governance and partners

WMCA Board Access agendas, reports and information about membership here.

Partners and stakeholders we work with include: Local Authorities, WM-5G delivery programme, 
West Midlands Growth Company, Coventry 2021 City of Culture

Page 57

https://governance.wmca.org.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=137


52

Portfolio Lead Member
Cllr Izzi Seccombe, 
Leader of Warwickshire 
County Council

Lead WMCA Director
Dr. Henry Kippin, Director 
of Public Service Reform

To create a region in which positive, proactive and preventative 
approaches to citizen wellbeing are normalised, giving our young and 
diverse population a better chance to thrive in life and work.

Wellbeing

heart

52

Page 58



53

We are committed to creating a region in which 
positive, proactive and preventative approaches 
to citizen wellbeing are normalised, giving our 
young and diverse population a better chance 
to thrive in life and work.  We want to help our 
local and system partners build the resilience and 
capability of our citizens – through co-developing 
new models of service delivery, new funding 
mechanisms, and using the potential of devolution 
to support better outcomes through prevention.

Summary of activity in 2019/20

To make progress towards our long term goals 
the following projects and work streams will be 
delivered:

Thrive West Midlands

Ongoing delivery of the successful West Midlands 
Thrive programme, which continues to grow and 
support a culture of support and awareness for 
mental health issues across the region. We will 
continue to grow programmes helping people into 
work (through the Individual Placement Support 
programme), and serve over 150 businesses 
signed up for Thrive at Work, impacting on over 
100,000 employees.  

running

Childhood Obesity

Development and delivery of a childhood obesity 
strategy for the West Midlands, designed in 
partnership with local authorities and Public 
Health England.  This will include a range of 
specific actions to curb junk-food advertising in 
sensitive environments, and support for physical 
activity and wellbeing promotion.

running

West Midlands on the Move

We will continue to roll out our West Midlands 
on the Move strategy which promotes physical 
activity and wellbeing - including the expansion of 
‘Good Gym West Midlands’ (now in three of seven 
boroughs), a work programme on disability and 
sport, support for Commonwealth Games legacy 
development, and the development of a ‘Black 
Country Fund’ with Sport England to help address 
low levels of physical activity.

peace

'Radical Prevention' Fund

Development and delivery of an innovative new 
funding mechanism (developed in partnership 
with central government, PHE, NHS and local 
government partners) which brings together our 
regional ambitions around digital and prevention 
– building on our 5G test bed status to bring in 
additional health funding for digital innovation 
developed within the region.

laptop-medical

Population Health Intelligence

Working closely with our partners at Public Health 
England, we will continue to host a population 
intelligence hub within the Inclusive Growth Unit 
which provides holistic, realtime data on the 
region’s health and socioeconomic outcomes, and 
supports health and public service partners to 
develop better population health commissioning 
within the region.

dove

Supporting place based health and care

Continue to support our regional health and care 
partnerships, with a place on the West Midlands 
STP executive, and through the development of 
our population hub and preventative activities.

Page 59



54

Performance Monitoring: WMCA Delivery in 2019/20

The following performance measures will help us demonstrate WMCA activity is being delivered:

Key Performance Measure/Indicator 2019/20 target

Launch of prevention funding mechanism in partnership with PHE and local 
partners

Summer 2019

Completed Year 2 delivery of Thrive into Work IPS Trial December 2019

Doubling of business (to c200) and employee engagement through Thrive at 
Work programme 

March 2020

Commence Veterans mental health work programmes July 2019

Launch of WM Childhood Obesity Action Plan, including specific early 
deliverables 

May 2019

Roll out of Good Gym across the whole West Midlands constituent 
geography

March 2020

Roll out the Mental Health Literacy and Mental Health First aid programmes 
across the whole West Midlands

March 2020

What we are trying to have an impact on

Our activity, support and influence will support, enable and contribute to various long term or ‘whole 
system’ outcomes within which WMCA activity plays some part:

Regional Outcome Indicators

Better health outcomes for people with complex needs

Healthy Life Expectancy (HLE) at Birth – Males & Females

Reduced HLE inequality between genders and areas. 

Gap in employment rate for those in contact with secondary mental health services and the overall 
employment rate

Reduced rates of suicide (per 100,000)

Increased rates of physical activity

Page 60



55

Links to policy, plans and strategies

Plan/Strategy Description

Mental Health Commission 
Report

The West Midlands Mental Health Commission report that provides a 
baseline audit of the picture in relation to poor mental health across the 
region, in terms of services, emerging good practice and the economic 
impact. An Action Plan produced in response signed by various 
stakeholders and partners.

West Midlands on the 
Move

WMCA produced its West Midlands On The Move physical activity 
strategy as part of the Wellbeing agenda, to help create an environment 
encouraging physical activity and promote the benefits.  It focuses on 
the link between better physical activity levels and achieving the WMCA 
Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) social and economic targets. West 
Midlands On The Move was developed with local authorities, Public 
Health England, Sport England and the County Sports Partnerships.

Relevant WMCA boards, other delivery governance and partners

WMCA Board Access agendas, reports and information about membership here.

Wellbeing Board Access agendas, reports and information about membership here.

Partners and stakeholders we work with include: Local Authorities, Public Health England, 
Birmingham 2022, West Midlands STP

Page 61

https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/1419/uob-mental-health-in-the-wmca-report.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/1419/uob-mental-health-in-the-wmca-report.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/1420/wmca-mental-health-commission-thrive-full-doc.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/1865/wm-on-the-move-strategy.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/1865/wm-on-the-move-strategy.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/1382/full-sep-document.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=137
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


56

Lead Portfolio Member
Cllr Brigid Jones, Deputy 
Leader of Birmingham 
City Council

Deborah Cadman
Lead WMCA Officer, Chief 
Executive of the WMCA

To enable and support growth that is measured not only by how 
fast or aggressive it is, but also by the social and environmental 
outcomes it realises for people in our most vulnerable and marginalised 
communities.

Inclusive Communities

smile

56

Page 62



57

We are committed to enabling and supporting 
growth that is measured not only by how fast 
or aggressive it is, but also by the social and 
environmental outcomes it realises for people 
in our most vulnerable and marginalised 
communities. We want a region where citizen 
participation is increased so that it better shapes 
the public services around communities and 
gives more people a chance to be a part of 
social, civic and economic life in the region. We 
want to ensure that this widening participation 
is a catalyst for, and driven by, more inclusive 
leadership across the region.

Overall aim and ambition

We want to help build the resilience and 
capability of our citizens, ensuring that they 
benefit from the growth experienced across the 
region. We want to enable a more diverse range 
of citizens to develop and achieve aspirations 
to become leaders in politics, organisations and 
communities.

Summary of activity in 2019/20

This is a new portfolio and its work programme 
and further specific activities will be developed 
during the year.  There will be a strong emphasis 
on challenging, enabling and supporting other 
portfolios to embed inclusivity, equalities and 
diversity into their policy and delivery.  For 
example:

Transport

Development of travel support packages for low 
income groups, enhancements to the National 
Concessionary Travel Scheme and new Demand 
Responsive Transport (DRT) initiatives.

hard-hat

Skills and Productivity

Supporting unemployed young people into 
work, establish a framework for high quality 
employment support and giving people the skills 
to get and sustain good jobs and careers.

home

Housing and Land

Increasing the supply of affordable and social 
housing in the region, and support place-making 
and regeneration in town centres.

users

Public Service Reform and Social Economy - 
Working with the Inclusive Growth Unit to embed 
inclusivity into the design and delivery of key 
regional programmes, and working with others 
such as the Wellbeing and Thrive teams and the 
Homelessness Taskforce to develop their work 
focusing on vulnerable people.

The Inclusive Communities portfolio will also drive 
the delivery of recommendations set by WMCA’s 
Leadership Commission - including:

child

Young Combined Authority

Establishing a diverse Young Combined Authority 
to influence and constructively challenge WMCA 
policy, better connecting the organisation to the 
communities it serves and building future political 
leadership capability in the West Midlands.

smile

Inclusive Leadership Pledge

Encouraging leaders and employers across the 
region to commit to realising greater inclusivity 
within their organisations; promoting the business 
case for diversity, enabling positive action and 
celebrating success.

Page 63



58

Performance Monitoring: WMCA Delivery in 2019/20

The following performance measures will help us demonstrate WMCA activity is being delivered:

Key Performance Measure/Indicator 2019/20 target

Develop our online toolkit for Inclusive Leadership August 2019

Establishment of the Young Combined Authority September 2019

Convene a cross-sector HR roundtable event November 2019

Increase number of organisations signing up to the Inclusive Leadership 
Pledge

March 2020

Review of WMCA contribution to Inclusive Leadership March 2020

What we are trying to have an impact on

Our activity, support and influence will support, enable and contribute to various long term or ‘whole 
system’ outcomes within which WMCA activity plays some part:

Regional Outcome Indicators

Average Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) Score across the region

Employment gap by gender

Employment gap by ethnic group

building

Enabling Human Resources best practice

Establishing a cross-sector roundtable to 
disseminate HR best practice, creating a simple 
online toolkit to support organisations on their 
inclusivity journey and leading by example 
through developing our own recruitment and 
development practices to support inclusion.

university

Collaborating with Universities – maintaining 
our relationship with the region’s universities 
who drove the research behind the Leadership 
Commission report.

Page 64



59

Links to policy, plans and strategies

Plan/Strategy Description

Mental Health Commission 
Report

The West Midlands Mental Health Commission report that provides a 
baseline audit of the picture in relation to poor mental health across the 
region, in terms of services, emerging good practice and the economic 
impact. An Action Plan produced in response signed by various 
stakeholders and partners.

Leadership Commission: 
Leaders Like You Report

The productivity gap articulated in our Strategic Economic Plan cannot 
be closed without inclusive leadership and inclusive growth that enables 
more of our citizens to play a full part. The Leadership Commission was 
established to identify the fundamental issues within our region that 
prevent our high level positions being reflective of the communities we 
live in.

Inclusive Growth Decision-
Making Tool

This tool can be used to evaluate the contribution of
projects to inclusive growth in the West Midlands.
The Decision-making Tool is designed to assess if
a project is likely to make a positive contribution
to inclusive growth.

Relevant WMCA boards, other delivery governance and partners

WMCA Board Access agendas, reports and information about membership here.

Partners and stakeholders we work with include: Young Combined Authority, Leadership 
Commission, universities, local authorities, Beatfreeks (Young Giant), businesses and employers

Page 65

https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/1419/uob-mental-health-in-the-wmca-report.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/1419/uob-mental-health-in-the-wmca-report.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/1420/wmca-mental-health-commission-thrive-full-doc.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s1967/Appendix%20A.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s1967/Appendix%20A.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s2911/Appendix.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s2911/Appendix.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=137


60

Enabling and supporting 
our delivery

60

Cllr Bob Sleigh

Finance portfolio lead 
member

Page 66



61

We have a Revenue Budget of £262.1m for 2019/20 (as reported in the budget 2019/20 report to WMCA 
Board on 8th February 2019). The significant increase in budgeted funding from last financial year is 
due to the devolution of the Adult Education Budget part way through 2019/20. At the time of budget 
setting (February 2019) the estimated grant award was £84m which represents 32.1% of the overall 
revenue budget. (The final award has since been confirmed at £78.7m). The Budget is funded from a 
variety of funding streams:

Our budget for 2019/20

Other income £4.1m (2%)
Membership £5.2m (2%)

Business rates growth £6.0m (2%)

Transport levy £114.7m (44%)

Devolution deal grants £47.9m 18%
Adult education funding £84.2m (32%)

Total: £262.1m

There is no increase in the Transport Levy for 
2019/20 which has remained flat at £114.7m. 
Membership contributions from Constituent and 
Non-Constituent Authorities have also remained 
static.

Devolution grant income reflects the £36.5m 
annual grant and further government grants 
largely relating to Housing and Regeneration and 
Productivity and Skills.
New funding streams include higher investment 
income as a result of cash balances generated 
from the Collective Investment Fund and assumed 
income generation to be secured through ongoing 
discussions with Treasury and other third parties 
throughout the year.

Reserves of £1m are being used to support the 
Transport budget for the second year of a 3 year 
plan in order to keep the Levy flat. In addition 
there is a planned £1.1m contribution from 
reserves to support the strategic priorities and 
portfolios.

Page 67



62

Capital Expenditure Financing £41.3m (15.76%)

Other £1.2m (0.46%)

Mayoral o�ce £0.8m (0.31%)

Transport delivery £115.7m (44.14%)

Operational Budget £103.1m (39.34%)

Where the money goes

Total: £262.1m

Our expenditure in 2019/20

Our expenditure for 2019/20 (which will fund the 
activities in this Plan) can be broken down into 
two main areas:

• Transport (TfWM) Delivery Budget of 
£115.7million: The budget supports the 
delivery of public transport and 325 million 
passenger journeys a year along with the 
management of 12 bus stations and provision 
of over 11,000 passenger stops, stands 
and shelters with many interchanges at 
which passenger information and Real Time 
Information (RTI) is displayed. The budget 
also funds the National Travel Concessionary 
Scheme along with the Rail and Metro 
Concessionary schemes and Subsidised Bus 
services. Other key provisions funded from 
the Transport budget include a number of 
park and ride facilities across the region and 
the Ring and Ride service 

• WMCA Operational Budget of £103.1million: 
The Operational budget focuses on the 

other strategic priorities of the WMCA and 
its core areas of Strategy, Housing & Land, 
Productivity & Skills, Health & Wellbeing, 
Economic Growth, Public Service Reform and 
the Environment with the aim of delivering 
sustained and inclusive growth for everyone 
across the region that connects residents 
to opportunities that are created by this 
investment.

Both the Transport and Operational Budgets 
are used to proportionately fund the range of 
enabling functions and services that support 
delivery (including finance, procurement, HR 
and governance services). There are other costs 
such as servicing the capital expenditure and 
investments in major infrastructure projects 
(including debt interest and the transfer to the 
Investment Programme reserve to meet costs of 
future Investment Programme borrowing) and 
running the Mayoral Office.

Page 68



63

Planned investments for 2019/20

Our planned capital investment programme in 2019/20 is £551.0m and will fund a range of transport, 
housing, regeneration and innovation focused projects, including: 

• £144m on Metro Delivery including Wednesbury to Brierley Hill 
• £27m on Sprint Development and Implementation
• £23m on Rail Programme Development
• £28m on other Transport Programmes
• £88m Brownfield Land Remediation Funds
• £50m Commercial and Residential Investment Funds
• £60m on Devolved Housing and Regeneration Programmes
• £8m on 5G
• £122m on Capital Grants to Local Authorities including Coventry Station Masterplan

Our support and enabling services 

There are a range of ‘Corporate Services’ that 
support the WMCA to deliver sustained and 
inclusive economic growth. Corporate Services 
include Finance, Governance, Assurance & Audit, 
Procurement, Human Resources, Information 
Technology, Legal, Risk Management, Property, 
Programmes and Project Support, all of which 
help the CA deliver against its identified priorities 
and enable outcomes that make a real difference 
to the people of the West Midlands. A small 
Strategy team and Chief Executive’s unit provide 
corporate policy, performance management and 
communications services and support. 

Key activity in 2019/20 includes:

• Concluding a review of Corporate Services 
started during 2018/19 resulting in improved 
and re-purposed services that support and 
enable the organisation more effectively and 
efficiently 

• Working with partners to deliver a balanced 
revenue budget for 2020/21 and publish a five 
year medium term financial plan which works 
towards securing a long term sustainable 
financial future for the combined authority.

• Completing a full review of the Constitution 
to reflect the development of the combined 
authority since the mayoral election.

• Develop and implement an updated WMCA 
Assurance Framework which includes 
governance and assurance requirements for 
the Investment Programme, Adult Education 

Budget, Housing & Land Remediation and 5G.
• Implementation and delivery of risk assurance 

and improved performance management 
reporting for all WMCA directorates to 
support wider devolution reporting both 
for internal WMCA Leadership Team and 
government.

• The development of arrangements to ensure 
the efficient and effective conduct of the 
Mayoral Elections in May 2020.

Our staffing for 2019/20

As of 1st April 2019, the WMCA has an approved 
staffing structure of 551 FTE posts. Staffing is 
structured in line with the organisation's delivery 
priorities, role and responsibilities: 

• Transport for West Midlands (TfWM) 
• Housing & Regeneration 
• Productivity & Skills 
• Public Service Reform
• Plus strategic enabling and support functions 

- Corporate Services (including Finance, 
Legal, Governance, Human Resources, ICT)

• Strategy (including policy, performance, and 
programme management and support to the 
Economy & Innovation, Environment & Energy 
portfolios)

• Chief Executive’s Office and Communications 
• Mayoral Office 

Posts are funded from a mix of approved 

Page 69



64

operating budgets and other secured 
funding sources. A variety of non-permanent 
arrangements are utilised to fill posts (eg 
secondments, temps, fixed term, and joint 
delivery teams) to ensure we have a workforce 
that can flex and respond to changing 
circumstances, regional priorities and budgetary 
changes.

Our commitment to health and 
safety

Engendering a health and safety culture for all 
staff, contractors, supplier and stakeholders 
is essential to the West Midlands Combined 
Authority throughout its operations and 
communications, both existing and developing. 
The WMCA will continue to put health and safety 
at the forefront of all of its activities through;

• Delivery of enhancements set out in WMCA 
Health and Safety Delivery Plan 2019-2020, 
which provides detail on how we will deliver 
against our vision, goals and objectives set 
out in the WMCA Health and Safety Strategy 
2018-2020.

• Ensuring strategic health and safety aims 
and key deliverables are communicated and 
embedded throughout the organisation.

• Ensuring that the implications of the 
expanding remit of the WMCA are 
understood and appropriate governance 
arrangements, management systems 
and critical resources continue to be 
implemented.

• Continue a culture whereby health and safety 
is integrated into all WMCA operational 
activities and where all employees actively 
participate in and support the advancement 
of our health and safety practices, shared 
aims and objectives

Risks to delivery

Our Strategic Risk Register summarises the key 
risks to the delivery of this Annual Plan. The 
Register is monitored regularly by the WMCA’s 
Strategic Leadership Team and the Audit, Risk 
and Assurance Committee, and mitigating activity 
agreed accordingly. Key risks to delivery in 
2019/20 include:

• External factors and uncertainty: 
government/political or financial change 
might not be factored into WMCA plans, 
which could make delivery ambitions more 
difficult to achieve. There is a lot of external 
uncertainty so risk that instability in the 
external economic environment could 
adversely impact WMCA including Brexit and/
or economic recession.

• Financial assumptions: a risk that 
assumptions made in the first Devolution 
Deal (that have been made against expected 
economic growth, local precepts, business 
rate retention and interest rate levels), do not 
prove to be achievable.

• Political change: potential national or local 
change may impact on priorities and the 
decision-making and resource allocation to 
support those .

Page 70



6565

Page 71



66

Our companies
Midland Metro Limited

A wholly-owned subsidiary, Midland Metro Ltd was established in 2018 
to take over the day-to-day operations of the West Midlands Metro light 
rail system from National Express. This will allow profits to be reinvested 
back into the network providing better value for tax payers.

West Midlands Growth Company

A company limited by guarantee and is an economic development and 
investment body which works to support the WMCA and its partners 
deliver the SEP targets for job creation and GVA growth.  The WMCA has 
a 5.3% investment in the Company which promotes the West Midlands as 
a premier location to do business in and invest in, and manages a pipeline 
of major inward investment propositions and investor development 
initiatives. WMGC also acts as a destination management organisation, 
working in partnership to promote the region in order to boost visitor 
numbers and visitor spend in the region’s economy. The WMGC develops 
its own Business Plan and is accountable to the WMGC Board.

West Midlands Development Capital

(100% subsidiary) West Midlands Development Capital (WMDC) is the 
fund manager for the WMCA’s £140 million Commercial Investment 
Fund, £70m Residential Investment Fund and the £50 million element of 
the Land Remediation Fund. It acts as the vehicle to advise and arrange 
investments on behalf of the WMCA.

WM5G

A wholly-owned subsidiary incorporated in 2019, WM5G is focused on 
supporting the rollout of the region's 5G test bed programme. Delivery of 
the project will see the West Midlands as home to the UK’s first multi-
city 5G test bed. The trial of new high speed connectivity will pave the 
way for the future rollout of 5G across the UK, making the region the first 
in the UK ready to trial new 5G applications and services at scale. The 
project will develop a large-scale, 5G pilot across the region, with initial 
hubs in Birmingham, Coventry and Wolverhampton.

Page 72



67

West Midlands Rail Executive

WMCA has a 50% interest in West Midlands Rail Executive which is a 
company limited by guarantee, owned by partner authorities, created 
with the purpose of specifying and managing rail franchising for the West 
Midlands.

Our accountable bodies
Midlands Connect

The WMCA acts as the accountable body for the Midlands Connect 
partnership. Midlands Connect is a 46-member independent 
partnership of 23 local authorities (including the WMCA), nine Local 
Enterprise Partnerships, and eight Chambers of Commerce stretching 
across the Midlands from the Welsh border to the Lincolnshire 
coast. Delivery agencies Highways England, Network Rail, and HS2 
Ltd are also members of the partnership, as well as East Midlands 
and Birmingham airports and the Department for Transport (DfT). 
Midlands Connect researches, develops and recommends major 
transport projects. By creating more capacity and improving reliability 
for passengers and freight on the Midlands’ roads and railways, these 
projects will provide the biggest possible economic and social benefits 
for the Midlands and the rest of the UK.

Page 73



68

April 2019

Version 1
Page 74



West Midlands
State of the Region 2019
Summary Report

P
age 75



1

Content
Executive Summary

Balance Outcomes

Economic Growth

Business Competitiveness & Productivity 

Skills

People

Place

The Regional Outcome Indicators 

2

9

10

15

18

22

25

29

P
age 76



2

Executive Summary
Welcome to State of the Region 2019 – the third 
annual review of economic performance across the 
West Midlands. This report is written on behalf of 
the West Midlands Combined Authority and all its 
partners, it should be seen as a stocktake of where 
the region stands, it’s a snapshot on where we are 
doing well and where we need to work together to 
improve the region. It’s a call to action for everyone 
invested in the West Midlands.

It tries to be an honest reflection of the current 
regional condition, highlighting the challenges we 
face. However, we are not attempting to suggest 
what the solutions are, this lies within strategies 
and action plans the WMCA and partners own 
and deliver. It highlights how we are driving our 
evidence base for the future and continuing to 
build our understanding of the performance of 
the region. There are challenges to understanding 
this performance and how we change places for 
the better, not least understanding the causation 
and causality between action, output and 
outcomes. This document provides a balanced 
approach to regional monitoring and a useful tool 
understand the progress we are making through 
our combined action.

The West Midlands is experiencing an economic 
renaissance bucking the trend of other areas 
outside London. GVA, the measure we use to 
assess the value of goods and services in an area, 
is growing at the same rate as the UK at 3.6%, 
reaching £99bn. This is matched by a record high 

in the amount of GVA generated per person at 
£23,900, which is growing in line with the UK. 
Whilst GVA per hour, the best way to measure 
productivity, is increasing at 3.1%, significantly 
above the UK at 2.5%. 

This economic growth is matched by growth in the 
number of active enterprises at 3.6%, again above 
the UK at 3.3%. Although a slight reduction in the 
number of new enterprises, we are still matching 
the UK at 58 per 10,000 people in the region. 
Those enterprises are creating record numbers 
of jobs with a growth rate of 3.1% - 3 times the 
England rate and we now have 1.9m jobs.  

The number of people with NVQ Level 4+ 
qualifications has increased by 3.4% over the 
year compared to a UK increase of 2.3%. There 
were similar positive results for those with ‘No 
Qualifications’, falling by 2.5% compared to the UK 
average change of +0.2%. 

Looking ahead, many economic fundamentals 
are expected to stay strong with growth in 
other sectors expected beyond manufacturing, 
including real estate and business, professional 
and financial services. HS2 will continue to 
improve productivity, connectivity, skills and job 
opportunities. Coventry City of Culture in 2021 
and the Commonwealth Games in 2022 will bring 
investment in venues, transport, housing, jobs 
and tourism, as the region’s profile on the global 
stage is boosted.

There are good reasons to be optimistic. Yet our 
optimism for the future must be tempered by 
the current challenges, and those that we know 
are ahead. Manufacturing looks most vulnerable 
to the impacts of Brexit, and the West Midlands 
is particularly exposed. Although headline 
productivity is moving in the right direction, it 
still lags behind the rest of the UK, as does the 
proportion of WMCA residents with qualifications 
and their healthy life expectancy. Youth 
unemployment is still stubbornly high.  Without 
effective investment in productivity and skills, 
the region risks losing the ability to attract future 
investment and there continues to be disparity in 
employment levels by gender and ethnicity.  We 
know there is still a long way to go to meet our 
ambitions. Too many people remain left behind, 
unable to access, shape or feel the full benefits of 
sustained economic growth. 

This report highlights how we monitor this and 
demonstrates we have an opportunity to harness 
the growth for the greater good of everyone, 
creating a more inclusive, resilient economy. 

Consistent with the WMCA Strategic Economic 
Plan and the WM Local Industrial Strategy unless 
otherwise stated, the data for WMCA relates to 
the 3 LEP geography - Black Country LEP, Greater 
Birmingham and Solihull LEP and Coventry and 
Warwickshire LEP

WMCA Board

P
age 77



3
    

3

1.9m
The number of Jobs has 

increased to 1.9m  

+3.1% (+56,000) compared to 
+1.3% for England 

(2016 - 2017)

To reach the Strategic Economic 
Plan target we need to achieve 

2.4m jobs

£31.07 165,045£99bn 71.7%
The WMCA Employment rate is 

71.7% (1.8m people) 

Increased at a faster rate than the 
UK average 

+0.7pp (+19,600 people) vs 
+0.3pp (2017 - 2018)

To reach the UK average of 75.0%, 
an additional 85,400 people need 

to become employed

GVA per hour is £31.07
+3.1% (+£0.93) growth compared 

to +2.5% (+£0.83) UK average 
(2016 - 2017). 

To reach the UK average, 
performance is good but there 
currently a shortfall of £2.58

Total GVA is increasing and 
stands at £99bn

+3.6% (+£3.5bn) growth rate 
– same as the UK growth 
rate of +3.6% (2016-2017)

Target - to reach £153bn in 
total GVA by 2030

Key Trends
Outperforming

165,045 Active Enterprises in the 
WMCA in 2017

+3.6% growth rate compared to 
+3.3% UK (2016 - 2017)

To be above UK Average, 
performance is good but need 
to create an additional 18,451 
enterprises to reach 443 per 

10,000 population

58.1%
58.1% (1.9m people) are Physically 

Active as of November 2017/18

+1.1pp vs +0.8pp England (62.6%) 
(Nov. 2016/17 - Nov. 2017/18)

Performance is good but need an 
additional 156,701 adults to reach 

the national average

P
age 78



4

    
4

14,50076.3%
14,500 Net New Homes in the 

WMCA area in 2018  

Making good progress but to 
reach the 215,000 target of net 
new homes by 2031, requires an 

additional 189,029 net new homes 

76.3% of employees earning 
above the Living Wage 

Foundation rates
+0.5pp growth compared to 

-0.6pp UK (2017-2018)

The target is to reach the UK 
average of 77.2%

11.0%
The Working age Population with 

No Qualifications is 11.0% (283,700 
people), this is decreasing faster than 

the UK average    

 -2.5% WMCA compared to +0.2% UK 
(2017 - 2018) 

To reach the UK level of 8% an 
additional 78,284 people need to gain 

one qualification

32.1%
The Working age Population with 

NVQ4+ qualifications is 32.1% 
(825,500 people), this is increasing 
at a faster rate than the UK average    

 +3.4% WMCA compared to +2.3% 
UK (2017 - 2018)

To reach the UK average we would 
need an additional 181,538 people to 

be upskilled to 39.2%

7.1%
7.1% of NEETs within the WM 7 

Met. area compared to 6.0% for 
England (2018)

NEET reducing at a higher rate 
than England by 0.7pp

To be below the England 
average we would need 701 
fewer NEETS to reach 6%

P
age 79



5
    

5

The five-year Enterprise Survival 
Rate is 43.5% from 2012 births 
for the WMCA compared to 

44.1% for the UK.  (2012 to 2017)

The target is to be above the UK

GVA per Head is £23,903
+2.7% (+£636) growth compared 

to 3.0% UK (2016-2017)

But with a shortfall of £3,652 to 
UK average                                         

£28,294 21,043
Resident Wages are increasing 
and stand at £28,294 in 2018

+2.4% (+£652) growth compared 
to +2.8% (+£815) UK (2017-2018)

With a shortfall of £1,280 to 
national average                                         

21,043 ktCO2 emitted within the 
WMCA by transport, business 

and homes in 2016   

-3.8% (-830ktCO2) across the 
WMCA vs -3.9% for the UK 

(2015-2016)

The target is a 40% reduction 
in carbon by 2030 from 2010, 

-5,249 ktCO2

In 2016, the reduction in carbon 
stands at -20.1% since 2010

£53,087£23,903 43.5%
GVA per employee is £53,087

+0.5% growth (+£269) compared 
to +2.2% (+£1,281) Eng. (2016-2017)

With a shortfall of £7,435 to 
England average                                         

Maintaining Our Position

P
age 80



6

    

Focus for Improvement

59.9 60.124,230
WMCA Enterprise births has 

decreased to 24,230

- 12% (-3,315) compared to -7.7% UK 
(2016 - 2017) 

The target is to be ahead of the 
UK average of 58 per 10,000 

population. Currently on par with 
the UK average.

£15.1bn
WMCA Output gap is £15.1bn in 2018

+£0.8bn from 2017 revised output 
gap (Due to revision of GVA data)

The aim is to have no output gap

-0.14
The WM 7 Met. area average 

Progress 8 Score was -0.14 in 2018

To reach England average 
requires an improvement of +0.12 

The target is to have an average 
progress 8 score of -0.02

29,230
The number of Apprenticeships 

has decreased to 29,230
-31.2% vs -22.6% England  (2016/17 

- 2017/18)

The target is to have 84,000 
apprentice starts, requiring an 

additional 54,770.

However, recent statistics for the 
last 6 months indicate a positive 
growth of 4% from same period 
last year (Aug. 2017 – Jan. 2018).

Healthy Life Expectancy for Males 
in the WM 7 Met. is 59.9 years. 

(+0.3 year improvement from 2016) 

- 3.4 years lower than England 
(63.3 years) in 2017.

The target is to reach the England 
average of 63.4 years old

Healthy Life Expectancy for 
Females in the WM 7 Met. is 60.1 
years (0.2 year decline from 2016) 

- 3.7 years lower than England 
(63.8 years) in 2017.

The target is to reach the England 
average of 63.8 years old

Additional Poor Air Quality 
Days across the West 

Midlands Region in 2018 

The target is to have only 1 day 
of poor air quality by 2030

21

6

P
age 81



7

The region as 100 enterprises

Turnover Band
High Achievers (£5m+)

Growth pioneers (£1m+)

Potential Gazelles (£250k+)

Solid performers (£100k+)

Lifestylers (<£100k)

Advanced 
Manufacturing

Business, Professional & 
Financial Services

Building 
Technologies 
(construction)

Cultural 
Economy 
(Incl. Sport)

Digital & 
Creative

Life Science 
Health carees

Logistics & 
Transport 
Technologies

Low 
carbon & 
Env Tech

Public Sector 
Incl. Education

Retail

Enterprises

% GVA

% Employment

Ownership
Company

Sole Proprietor

Partnership

Non Profit or mutual

Size of Enterpirse
Micro (0-9 employees) 

Small (10-49 employees) 

Medium Sized (50-249 
employees)

P
age 82



8

The region as 100 people 

Age Band
Children

Working age 
adults

65 and over

Physical Activity
Physically Active

Fairly active

Inactive

Ethnicity
White

Asian/Asian British

Black/Africa/
Caribbean/Black British

Mixed/Multiple ethnic 

Other

Qualifications
NVQ4 and above
NVQ 3 (only) 
NVQ 2 (only) 
NVQ 1 (only)  
Other 
Trade Apprenticeships 
No Qualifications 

Gender
Female 

Male

Deprivation
Residents living in 10% 
most deprived 

Residents not living in 
10% most deprived  

Employed
Working age and active  

Working age and 
inactive

P
age 83



9

Balanced 
Outcomes
The WMCA is committed to pursuing and 
defining success in social, environmental and 
economic terms that feel real to citizens and 
bring benefits to all who live and work here. 

These principles are the basis of the delivery of 
WMCA and its partners. These indicators can be 
used as outcome measures by partners, the WMCA 
uses them within its annual planning process and 
the performance management framework. 

For the purposes of this report we have 
separated key metrics into the following five 
pillars, that recognise the importance not only 
of growth and productivity improvements, but 
also the contribution of vibrant communities and 
resilient citizens in creating economic success 
and places that people want to live and work in.  
The full technical report is available online1,2.  

Improved GVA in line with the UK Average

Decoupling growth from emissions

Improved skills levels so that people have the skills 
and qualifications to access jobs

Improved life chances for all;

To reduce our health inequalities and improve the 
health and wellbeing of our population including 
physical activity and mental health;

To reduce offending and re-offending

Improved the productivity of our businesses focusing on 
our growth sectors;

Improved competitiveness through energy and resource 
efficiency and stimulated new technology and business

Improved the connectivity of people and businesses to 
jobs and markets;

Improved the quantity of high quality, readily 
available development sites; turning brownfield sites 
to high quality locations that meet our housing and 
business needs

Improving place, infrastructure, air quality and 
environment through addressing climate change

The report is based on five sections, with 
each section exploring the following:

Economic Growth

Business Competitiveness & 
Productivity  

Developing the regional economy underpins our 
ambitions.  As the export centre of the UK, our 
economic success is vital to Britain’s future.

Britain’s businesses are facing considerable 
uncertainties because of Brexit, but in the West 
Midlands we are steadily rebooting our reputation.

Building the right skills is key to delivering improved 
productivity and prosperity - enabling all groups to 
access jobs.

We want improved life chances for all residents, 
including those facing particular disadvantages 
or difficulties.

We will improve the connectivity of people and 
businesses to jobs, markets and housing - developing 
local places and communities.

Skills

People

Place

1 www.wmca.org.uk/state-of-the-region-2019
2 The sources for the data are set out in the full technical report.

P
age 84



10

3 The 2017 output calculation has been recalculated to reflect the revised ONS GVA data.

Economic growth

Developing the regional economy 
underpins our ambitions – not only to 
deliver growth that all citizens benefit 
from, but also, as the export centre of the 
UK, that will power the UK economy after 
Brexit. Economic growth, as measured 
by GVA has seen strong growth (3.6% 
from 2016-2017 - in line with national 
growth) and areas within outperforming 
the national average (4.3% in the Black 
Country).  Over time the WMCA economy 
has outperformed other Combined 
Authority areas.

However, the region is still falling well 
short of fulfilling its economic potential. 
The output gap, which measures the 
difference between per head economic 
output and potential stands at £15.1bn3 
across the 3 LEP geography.  

• In the WMCA total GVA continues to increase 
and in 2017 was £99bn (3.6% growth - equal 
to the national growth rate). The WMCA (7 
Met.) recorded the highest growth across all 

Combined Authority areas from 2014-2017 
and the highest outside the Greater London 
Authority from 2009-2017. 

• There is considerable variation in terms of GVA 
per head across all areas. In the WMCA, GVA 
per head is £23,903, below the UK average 
of £27,555 - leading to a £15.1bn output gap. 
The output gap is impacted by skills levels, 
employment levels and the productivity of our 
business base.

• In terms of productivity,  for the third time in 
the last 4 years, the WMCA’s GVA per hour has 
increased at a faster rate compared to the UK 
(3.1% compared to 2.5% from 2016-2017) and is 
currently £31.07. However, GVA per hour needs 
to increase by £2.58 to reach the UK level. 

• According to the latest regional Purchasing 
Managers Index (PMI), West Midlands output 
only rose slightly in March (an index of 50.9), 
completing a subdued first quarter which saw 
a fall in business activity in January (49.5) and 
more modest growth in February (52.0). Output 
is generally down on this period last year.

• The WMCA has received 775 Foreign Direct 
Investment (FDI) projects from 2011/12 to 
2017/18.  This has led to the creation of nearly 

46,000 new jobs from 2011/12 to 2017/18. The 
number of FDI projects in the WMCA area has 
more than doubled from 49 in 2011/12 to 140 in 
2017/18. This far exceeds the average growth 
rate for the whole of the UK which grew by 
47.4% in the same period. In 2017/2018 the West 
Midlands Region created over 9,424 new jobs 
from FDI projects – the highest level for any 
region outside of London. 

• In terms of the balance between income 
generated by the area (£36.1bn) tax and 
identifiable expenditure (£37.1bn), the gap has 
reduced to £1bn gap - a decrease of £1.7bn from 
the comparable figures for the previous year. 
The next step to deepening our understanding of 
the contribution of our investment programme 
to the public service reform agenda is to analyse 
regional investment into the three types of 
prevention (primary, secondary and tertiary), 
and into acute services. This will help us to build 
on good work, and to be deliberate in reducing 
the level of acute spending by investing into the 
right forms of prevention.

P
age 85



11

Deepening our Evidence Base
The Office of Data Analytics 

The ODA has been established to achieve a 
vision of providing “integrated intelligence to 
support decision making in the region on a range 
of economic and social issues.”

The ODA will be a hub and spoke model, 
creating a more formal structure for current 
centres of expertise within the region. It will 
bring together key partners within the West 
Midlands, providing a point of focus for strategic 
leadership & catalyst for action for data, research 
and intelligence in the region and ensuring the 
strengths, skills and expertise across partners 
are recognised locally, regionally, nationally and 
internationally. 

Key Delivery objectives of the ODA by 2021:

• To strengthen the motivation and capability of 
the WMCA and partners to use research and 
analysis in making policy decisions

• Map assets, capabilities and strengths 
in the region and drive collaboration, 
skills development and expertise across 
organisations

• Deliver key enablers of data analytics and 
research, particularly a step change in 
information sharing between partners, 
together with work on joint training of 
analytical skills gaps, deploying common 
analytical tools and methodology

11

P
age 86



12

Deepening our Evidence Base
Brexit

City-REDI at the University of Birmingham 
have been working on economic analysis to 
understand the potential impact of Brexit on the 
West Midlands economy. They’ve estimated that 
up to 12.2% of West Midlands GDP is at risk in 
the event of a no-deal Brexit, and that current 
manufacturing is the most exposed sector in the 
region (32.2% of GDP at risk if the frictionless UK-
EU trade is disrupted).

As part of the Mayor’s Brexit Economic 
Contingency Group, City-REDI have also 
identified the key supply chain risks of Brexit. 

• delays in crossing the UK/EU border

• an increase in costs for crossing the border

• additional export/import controls

• new compliance requirements on exporters

We are also working with the Brexit Commission, 
established by Birmingham City Council. Which 
has undertaken its own analysis of potential 
Brexit impacts, utilising work by West Midlands 
Economic Forum, and universities across the 
region including City-REDI and the Centre for 
Brexit Studies.

The labour market challenges in the region are 
also amplified in the context of Brexit. Given the 
tightness of the labour market, it’s suggested that 
demand for skilled migrant staff will remain high 
for the foreseeable future; indeed, as can be seen 
from recent data, it has remained robust despite 
Brexit uncertainty. 

12.2%
of West Midlands GDP 

is at risk in the event of a 
no-deal Brexit

32.2%
of GDP at risk if the 

frictionless UK-EU trade 
is disrupted

12

P
age 87



13

£69,558

£41.50

28%

4.3%

What does GVA look like 
across the WMCA?

Redditch Warwick has the 
highest GVA per 
employee at £69,558

GVA per hour worked 
is £41.50 in Soihull

Birmingham 
contributes 28% of the 
WMCA’s total GVA

The highest GVA 
growth in the WMCA 
was in the Black 
Country at 4.3%, higher 
than the England rate £36,695

£28.1bn

North Warwickshire 
has the highest GVA 
per head at £36,695

The highest proportion of 
GVA comes from the Business 
Professional & Financial 
Services at £28.1bn

Latest data for the WMCA’s 
GVA totalled £99 billion, 
contributing 5% to the total 
UK GVA. The WMCA GVA per 
head is £23,903.

P
age 88



14

Real (Volume) Growth in GVA 
over 3 years / 8 years

GVA per Head 2017

Greater London Authority

West Midlands Combined Authority (7 Met.)

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority

West of  England Combined Authority

Derby, Derbyshire, Nottingham and Nottinghamshire LEP

Sheffield City Region Combined Authority

North of Tyne Combined Authority

Greater Manchester Combined Authority

Leeds City Region / West Yorkshire Combined Authority

North East Combined Authority

Tees Valley Combined Authority

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority

-5 0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Growth 2009 to 2017 Source: ONS April 2019

CVM = Chained Volume Measure

Growth measured in chained 
volume measure, linked across 
years in real terms

Growth 2014 to 2017

P
age 89



15

Business Competitiveness 
& Productivity
A world-class business base continues to 
underpin the West Midlands’ economic 
renaissance. Enterprises – in total and 
those defined as high-growth – are still 
growing and we are making significant 
productivity gains. Our unique ability to 
export at scale across the world is driving 
success in the region across sectors.

• The WMCA business base continues to 
grow and there are currently 165,045 active 
enterprises (398 per 10,000 population 
compared to 443 for UK) in the WMCA. To 
reach the national average, the WMCA needs 
to increase its enterprise stock by 18,451. 

• There were 24,230 enterprises births across 
the WMCA in 2017 – this is 29% more births 
than there were in 2013, compared to a 10% 
increase nationally.  However, this is a decline 
of 3,315 on 2016 figures – in line with declines 
reported nationally.

• Out of 27,545 enterprise births in 2016, 92.5% 
survived their first year, above the UK rate of 
91.5% and an increase on the previous period. 

Longer-term, enterprise survival in the WMCA is 
below the national average: across WMCA was 
43.5% of 2012 births survived to 2017, compared 
to 44.1% in the UK overall. 

• Our region now has a larger share of both 
High Achievers (firms with £5m+ turnover) and 
Growth Pioneers  (turnover between £1m and 
£4.99m) than the UK average (2.4% and 7.7% 
compared to 2.3% and 6.9%) and in the last year 
there has been an increase in enterprises across 
all turnover bands except for Lifestylers – those 
with a turnover of £100,000 or less. 

• The share of high-growth enterprises varies 
across the WMCA’s 3 LEPs, but all currently have 
a rate below the UK’s 6.3%.4 Between 2014 and 
2017, 6.1% of firms in Coventry & Warwickshire 
were high-growth according to the OECD 
definition; 5.7% of firms in Greater Birmingham 
and Solihull were high growth and 4.4% in the 
Black Country.

• The West Midlands is the export capital of the 
UK. The WMCA (7 Met.) exported £17.8bn worth 
of goods across the world in 2017, £11.1bn of 
which went outside the EU. Excluding London, 
this is the highest value of exports of any 

comparative UK area. Unlike most comparator 
regions, the West Midlands (7 Met.) also has a 
substantial trade surplus in goods with China (+ 
£1.02bn) and the largest trade surplus of all UK 
areas with the USA (+ £2.7bn).

• Jobs are increasing and there are currently 
1.9 million people working in the WMCA area, 
with 1.2m employed in the transformational 
sectors and 700,155 in the enabling sectors in 
2017. 76.3% of employees are earning above 
the Living Wage Foundation rates. 

1.9m
people working in the WMCA 

area, with 1.2m employed in the 
transformation sectors and 700,155 

in the enabling sectors in 2017.                         

4 Source: Enterprise Research Centre (ERC), UK Local Growth Dashboard, 2018 

P
age 90



16

The West Midlands has been a trailblazer in 
developing a Local Industrial Strategy (LIS), 
and the Black Country Consortium Economic 
Intelligence Unit led on the collation of the robust 
evidence base for the LIS including:

In-depth evidence base across the five 
foundations of productivity. 

Detailed sectoral analysis which includes 
headline data on sectors as well as evidence 
demonstrating our competitive advantages 
within them. Work has begun on a range 
of sector action plans covering metals and 
materials, construction, aerospace, rail, 
automotive, life sciences, food and drink, 
tourism, creative, logistics & transport, low 
carbon and professional services. 

• Initially through the WMCA Productivity & 
Skills Commission, the Professional Services 
sector action plan was the first to commence 
and to be completed. A collaboration between 
BPS Birmingham, City-REDI and Black Country 
EIU produced the analysis which provides a 
strategic focus for the sector in the region 
going forward.5

Through an academic lead within the WM 
LIS group, a broad approach to the grand 
challenges has been developed. This involves 
identifying distinctive grand challenge focus 
areas for the West Midlands, linking these with 
major investment/activities in the region (e.g. 
Commonwealth Games, HS2) and looks to co-
ordinate research and innovation capabilities 
around these. 

In developing this deep evidence base, we 
have worked with BEIS analysts and have 
shared expertise with Greater Manchester, 
ensuring we are comprehensive and meeting 
Government expectations. Furthermore, to 
validate the evidence we have led on the setup 
of an independent “expert panel” who have 
begun reviewing our evidence base and making 
suggestions for the future. 

Our evidence base is continually being 
updated and enhanced and is available on the 
BCLEP website.6

5 Source: https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/2406/business-professional-financial-services.pdf
6 LIS Evidence Base: https://www.blackcountrylep.co.uk/about-us/west-midlands-combined-authority/local-industrial-strategy-evidence-base/

Deepening our Evidence Base 
The West Midlands Local 
Industrial Strategy

P
age 91

https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/2406/business-professional-financial-services.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/2406/business-professional-financial-services.pdf
https://www.blackcountrylep.co.uk/about-us/west-midlands-combined-authority/local-industrial-strategy-evidence-base/


17

Small and medium sized enterprises 
account for of all WMCA 
Enterprises 

enterprise starts 
in the WMCA

The West Midlands 7 Met. area 
exported £17.8bn worth of 
goods across the world in 2017.

20.2% increase in the 
WMCA Business Base since 
2014 – compared to 15.7% 
across the UK.

enterprises have under 
5 employees

25,000

14% 77%

of enterprises in the 
WMCA have an annual 

turnover less than 
£250k

70%

Sole Proprietor Companies 

6%
Partnerships 

3%
Non- Profit or mutual

Nearly

£17.8bn

20.2%

9 in 10

The West 
Midlands is 
the export capital 
of the UK.      

P
age 92



18

Skills
Building the right skills in our workforce 
is key to delivering improved productivity 
and prosperity - enabling all groups to 
access jobs. While qualifications levels are 
improving, significant shortfalls remain in 
certain levels and geographies, holding 
back growth and productivity. Youth 
unemployment remains stubbornly high – as 
a growing, young and hyper-diverse region, 
tackling poor social mobility and outcomes 
is crucial to unlocking inclusive growth.

• There are 825,500 people qualified to NVQ 
Level 4 in the WMCA area. This is an increase 
of 3.4% on the previous year or 27,200 people, 
comparable to the national growth rate of 2.3%. 
Longer term, since 2012 the WMCA area has 
also performed better than the national average 
with an increase in the number of people with 
higher level skills by 147,900 (21.8%) compared 
to 17.2% for the UK. Despite this positive trend, 
just 32.1% of the population are qualified to 
NVQ Level 4 compared to 39.2% for the UK - a 
shortfall of 181,538 people.  Qualifications are 
key to progression, with people qualified to 
NVQ4+ estimated to earn significantly more 
than those with lower qualifications.

P
age 93



19

• The proportion of WMCA residents with no 
qualifications decreased from 11.4% (291,100) 
in 2017 to 11.0% (283,700) in 2018. A reduction 
of 7,400 people. The number of women with 
no qualifications dropped from 146,000 to 
130,300 (-10.8%) while men increased from 
145,100 to 153,400 (+5.7%). To reach the current 
UK average (8%) requires a further upskilling of 
78,284 people. 

• There were 29,230 apprenticeships in 2017/18 
with 12,810 were Intermediate level, 12,780 
Advanced and 3,640 were Higher.  

• In 2017/18 the WMCA had a decrease in the 
number of Apprenticeship starts by -31.2% 
compared to a national fall of 22.6%. However, 
progress within the year is showing we are up 
by 434 apprenticeship starts (+4%) from the 
same point as last year.

• Most young people (aged 16-24) in the WMCA 
are either in work or economically “inactive” 
(for example as full-time students), but 8.7% 
were counted as “unemployed” at the end of 
2018; a reduction on 9.7% in 2017.

• There were 18,675 youth claimants in the 
WMCA in March 2019, an increase a 4.4% from 
the previous month which mirrors national 
trends with the rollout of universal credit. 
Unemployment rates vary significantly by 
ethnicity, with a rate of 75% for white working 
age population, but 61% rate for ethnic minority 
working age population. with the lowest rates 
overall for ethnic minority females at 53%.  

P
age 94



20

Deepening our Evidence Base 
Employment Support Framework
The West Midlands Combined Authority’s (WMCA) 
second devolution deal outlines the opportunity 
for the region to take forward a new Employment 
Support Framework:

“Government and the WMCA will jointly develop 
and adopt an Employment Support Framework 
Agreement to drive the better coordination of 
employment, skills and health services across the 
West Midlands in order to increase the number of 
residents moving into work. This will specifically 
include: 

a) How locally funded employment support 
programmes are designed, commissioned and 
performance managed; 

b) How the Combined Authority and local 
partners can work together to align local 
public services to support people into work; 

c) How the WMCA, DWP, JobCentre Plus 
and the LEPs will work together to offer 
apprenticeships and other work-related 
training and work experience opportunities 
to young people to drive down youth 
unemployment; 

d) How Jobcentre Plus, local authorities and their 
partners will work together to promote skills 
development and progression from low-paid 
employment to support growth.”

WMCA set up an Employment Support Taskforce to 
develop the framework, bringing together a team of 
experts from DWP, Local Authorities, the voluntary 
and community sector, the welfare to work sector 
and WMCA.  The Taskforce shaped and responded 
to a number of pieces of work developed to inform 
the framework:

a) Desk based review of the evidence of ‘what 
works’ and what this means for the WMCA 
area 

b) ‘Deep dives’ into three different areas in the 
WM – Foleshill in Coventry, Greets Green in 
Sandwell and Druids Heath in Birmingham, to 
more forensically identify current issues and 
barriers and opportunities for future success.   
This included focus groups with the local 
community

c) Practitioner interviews – engaging with 
front line staff that support local people into 
employment

d) Customer journey mapping

This evidence is underpinning a series of 
recommendations relating to commissioning 
principles, alignment and collaboration and to 
shape the future Shared Prosperity Fund.

P
age 95



21

The Educational Pathway shows the roadmap for school pupils between reception 
all the way up to higher education, highlighting the WM 7 Met. and England 
average for all stages of education.

Indicates performance above the 
national average or an improvement 
in performance over the past year 
compared to the national average

Key Indicates an improvement in 
performance over the past year but less 
than or the same as the national average

Indicates performance below the 
national average or an overall decline in 
performance over the past year compared 
to  the national average

The Educational Pathway 

Change from 2017
WM 7 Met. +1.9pp
England +0.8pp

Change from 2017
WM 7 Met. +4pp
England +2pp

Change from 2017
WM 7 Met. +0.2
England +0.5

Change from 2017
WM 7 Met. +1pp
England: +1pp

WM 7 Met. +0.5pp
England: No Change 

WM 7 Met. No Change
England -1pp

WM 7 Met. +0.3pp
England No Change 

Change from 2017
WM 7 Met. +0.02
England -0.01

Progress 8

WM 7 Met. -0.14
England -0.02

Change from 2017
WM 7 Met. -0.1
England +0.2

Attainment 8

WM 7 Met. 44.1
England 46.5

Children Achieving a Good 
Level of Development 
(Aged 5 Years)

The Number of People 
Starting an Apprenticeship 
Programme

Pupils Meeting the 
Expected Standard at KS2 

The Difference in 
Attainment 8 Score 
for Pupils Deemed 
Disadvantaged

Pupils Achieving a 
Higher Standard at KS2

Pupils Staying in 
Education after KS4

KS5 Pupils Continuing to 
Higher Education

Pupils Attending the 
Russell Group Higher 
Education Institutions

WM 7 Met. 68.3%
England 71.5%

WM 7 Met. -32.6%
England -22.6%

WM 7 Met. 62%
England 64%

WM 7 Met. 7.7
England 9.8

WM 7 Met. 8%
England 10%

WM 7 Met. 94%
England 94%

WM 7 Met. 55%
England 50%

WM 7 Met. 10%
England 12%

P
age 96



22

People
Every person in the region has a role in 
building the region’s growing economy, 
and should therefore share in the 
benefits that it generates. These benefits 
should look as residents expect them to: 
prosperity, good health, thriving places, 
and in general, feeling able to influence 
the world around them. As it stands, 
strong headline jobs growth masks 
startling inequalities within the region, 
and across different communities. 

• WMCA defines inclusive growth as a more 
deliberate and socially purposeful model of 
economic growth – measured not only by 
how fast or aggressive it is; but also by how 
well it is created and shared across the whole 
population and place, and by the social and 
environmental outcomes it realises for our 
people. With this steer, we are investing into 
our residents to enable them to develop the 
skills, aspirations, and capabilities they need to 
access and create opportunities in our future 

economy. To do this, we need to have a sense 
of the ‘whole person’, and the lives they want to 
live. Collaboration is key to getting this right: by 
working together, we can deliver long, healthy, 
purposeful lives in comfortable homes, as part 
of safe, clean, well-connected neighbourhoods. 

• The healthy life expectancy gap within the 
region is significant for men and women alike 
and is holding back our productivity.  In 2015, 
20% of the WMCA population lived in the top 
10% most deprived areas.  For both males and 
females in the most deprived communities 
there is a shorter healthy life expectancy at 
birth and a longer period expected to be spent 
in ‘not healthy’ health. The healthy inequality 
gap between the most and least deprived 
areas across the WM 7 Met. geography has 
decreased among males to 6.3 years and for 
females to 7.4 years in 2017. 

• The West Midlands childhood obesity levels are 
one of the highest in the country. 37.1% of year 
6 children are overweight or obese, compared 
to 31.1% nationally. The West Midlands ranks 
number 3 for worst performing regions for 
childhood obesity. 

• In 2018, the infant mortality rate for the 
WMCA was 6.6 per 1,000 live births which is 
above the national average of 3.9. Each of the 
seven metropolitan authorities is worse than 
the England average, but Birmingham shows 
particularly poor results with 7.8 per 1,000 
live births. 

• In terms of recorded offences involving a 
knife or sharp instrument, Offences per 
100,000 population in 2018 was 98 in the West 
Midlands, the third highest rate behind London 
(167) and West Yorkshire (107) and above the 
national average of 69.

• In 2018, only 7% of adults in contact with 
secondary mental health services were in paid 
employment across England, a lower gap than 
the national average (61.2 WM 7 Met. vs 68.2).

• Gross Disposal Household Income (GDHI) per 
person in 2017 was £16,479 and has grown by 
6.9% since 2014. The UK GDHI per person is 
£19,514 and has increased by 6.7%. in the same 
period. GDHI per person needs to increase by 
£3,035 in the WMCA to be in line with the UK.

P
age 97



23

Every person in the region has a role in 
building the region’s growing economy, 
and should therefore share in the 
benefits that it generates.

P
age 98



24

Deepening our Evidence Base 
Inclusive Growth Framework

In working with the Inclusive growth 
Unit and other regional partners, it 
has been clear that WMCA’s focus 
should be on developing a solid 
definition, framing a set of priorities, 
collaborating to improve the region’s 
‘inclusive behaviours’, and – most 
importantly – using all of the above 
to change business as usual to 
something that is inclusive by design.

The Inclusive Growth Framework 
is one of a suite of products to 
enable that shift, and focuses on 
measurement. It defines the social, 
democratic, and environmental 
outcomes of economic activity. This 
ensures that the West Midlands 
prioritises that which it hopes to 
gain from economic activity: thriving 
citizens. It does not aim to capture 
every possible metric: rather, it is a 
snapshot of the social, democratic, 
economic, and environmental 
priorities of the region, paired with 
‘citizen voice’ indicators to ensure that 
we are kept on track. It can also be 
reflected spatially, with distributional 
measures, allowing us to more clearly 
understand how it will be distributed 
and the localities with the most need. 

Ultimately, it is not acceptable that the 
economy should make people unwell, 
or contribute to damaging climate 
change, or ‘forget’ that places exist, 
and the Inclusive Growth Framework 
is designed to enable us to stop that 
from happening. 

Our analysis shows that the 
challenges of addressing 
worklessness, in-work poverty and 
citizen fears that their aspirations 
cannot be achieved, are particularly 
acute in specific parts of the WMCA 
rather than the area as a whole.

It is early days, but the shift from 
business as usual is underway. The 
importance of place is woven through 
the Local Industrial Strategy and 
evidence base, and the devolved 
Adult Education Budget will enable us 
to deliver our commitment to enabling 
more residents to create prosperity 
and opportunity through improved 
skills and entrepreneurialism. 

Affordable, 
safe and 
connected 
places

Power, 
influence and 
participation

Equality

Sustainability

Biodiversity

Reducing 
CO2

Air quality

Circular 
economy

A balanced, inclusive West 
Midlands economy 

Education 
and learning

Health and 
wellbeing

Economy

P
age 99



25

Place

Another key driver of productivity 
is the transformation of the WMCA 
Infrastructure and Environment. We are 
building more homes with an ambition 
of 215,000 new homes by 2031.   We 
are working on the identification of 
opportunity areas to drive the supply of 
high quality new homes and then create 
and capture the climate resilient value. 
Then created from these to invest in 
transport, income, health, education and 
other facilities within existing communities 
in these areas. Enabling growth for all and 
ensure that communities can participate in 
growth and benefit from the growth. 

• More houses are being built resulting in 
housing stock continuing to rise to 1,719,094 
homes – a net increase of 14,491 homes from 
the previous year. 

• More affordable homes are being built – 3,337 
affordable homes in total (482 more than the 
previous year). However, there is a need to 
ensure we are delivering all types of housing 

to accommodate and attract employees 
for our growing economy and to tackle our 
homelessness crisis.

• Completions by tenure mix is changing – 
housing associations and local authorities 
account for 22% of all completions (up 2% 
since previous year) whilst private enterprises 
are decreasing their share of completions with 
79% (a decrease of 2% compared with the 
previous year). There is evidence of growing 
demand in the housing market with 57,278 
residential sales recorded in 2017/18 – an 
increase of 2,813 from the previous year; and 
likewise, in the private rental market– in 2017-
2018 there were 27,460 residential properties 
privately rented; an increase of 2,760 rentals 
since the previous year. 

• Alongside economic growth will be an 
impact on infrastructure and, as anticipated, 
congestion is getting worse. only 43% of WM 
met residents were able to access 3 or more 
strategic centres including Birmingham City 
Centre, accessible by public transport within 
45 mins travel time in the AM peak – some 
32 percentage points lower than the WMCA 
ambition of 75%.

• The WMCA had 131 million visitors in 2018 – an 
increase of 2.6% (+3.4m) over the past year. 
The number of day visitors have increased by 
2.7% (3.1m) and overnight visitors increased by 
2.1% (0.3m). Visits to parks and gardens have 
increased by 3.8% and museums and galleries 
increased by 1.4% compared to 2017. 

• Issues with Britain’s high street have been 
widely reported in recent times; mirroring the 
national trend of a struggling high street, 475 
stores closed in the West Midlands region in 
2018. 287 new stores opened, resulting in a net 
closure of 188 – the largest fall in the region 
over the last five years. 

• Air quality across the West Midlands region is 
declining as there are currently 46 days poor 
air quality per year (rated 4 or higher on the 
Daily Air Quality Index); an increase of 21 days 
more than the previous year. This was partially 
due to the extremely dry and hot summer in 
2018.  Whilst CO2 emitted in 2016 was 21,043 
ktCO2, a reduction of 830 ktCO2 since the 
previous year. The WMCA current ambition is 
a 40% reduction in carbon by 2030 requiring a 
further reduction of 5,249ktCO2. 

P
age 100



26

Deepening our Evidence Base 
Real Journey Time (RJT) Tool

The West Midlands Bus Alliance now have 
a prototype ‘Real’ Journey Time (RJT) tool –
available here – the screenshot below compares 
scheduled with observed bus journeys for one day 
in the afternoon peak Cricket Ground example.

Analysing this data to recreate a version of 
the bus timetable for the whole of the West 
Midlands based on observed journeys means we 
can predict how long an individual journey will 
take. The West Midlands Bus Alliance, working 
with ODI Leeds, has made use of the excellent 
TfWM API (Application Programming Interface), 
which allows apps to access bus journey time 

data securely. In this case the API asked for live 
departure information for every bus stop in the 
West Midlands every 5 minutes. We then use that 
information to track every bus service on every 
route as it makes its journey across the city. Since 
the tool went live in the spring we’ve collected 
25 million bus departures, with thousands more 
being added every minute.

Four main future uses of the RJT tool:

• To find the causes of the worst delay that 
mean a high RJT and to inform plans and 
projects to fix them

• To make the case for funding projects to 
remove these delays, since this would save 
passengers time on every journey

• To make the case for more devolution of 
powers to manage delays

• To immediately better inform passengers 
about unavoidable delays since not all delays 
can (currently) be controlled, removed, or 
avoided.

M
in

ut
es

Scheduled  time

Worst journey time

0
00:00 02:00 04:00 06:00

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

08:00 10:00 12:00 14:00 16:00 18:00 20:00 22:00

P
age 101

https://www.realjourneytime.co.uk/


27

Deepening our Evidence Base 
Environment

The WMCA Environment Board has agreed 
a more detailed set of monitoring to support 
our understanding of the environment and its 
contribution to clean and inclusive growth, 
and the carbon and air quality indicators 
within the WMCA state of the region report. 
Sustainability West Midlands (SWM) provides 
an annual update of these indicators and how 
we compare to other Combined Authority areas. 
This includes energy, water, waste, natural 
environment, and carbon intensity.

The latest SWM monitoring report was 
produced in May 2019 and includes new 
indicators, and where possible a breakdown by 
the 19 unitary or district local authorities within 
the 3 Local Enterprise Partnership geography 
of the WMCA area. The report also includes 
experimental work on how to measure the 
overall sustainability progress of the area by 
analysis over time of a selection of economic, 
social and environmental indicators. This shows 
the WMCA has improved by two places in the 
league table using the latest available data.

We are also working with the University of 
Birmingham WMAir project to develop more 
detailed air quality monitoring indicators, based 
on long-term health impacts, and therefore 
going beyond current legal compliance.

Our work with the Tyndall Centre and partners 
will review our current carbon reduction target 
in light of the latest Climate Change Committee 
recommendations, and also how we can 
measure the transition of our economy to a 
resource efficient one. Our current monitoring 
shows we continue to decouple economic 
growth and carbon emissions. We are the CA 
area that has the fastest economic growth whilst 
reducing carbon emissions.

Following feedback from partners we are also 
beginning to develop our understanding of the 
social and economic costs of environmental 
improvements. However as the recent climate 
change youth campaigns have reminded us, many 
of us haven’t done our homework on the cost of 
not having a future, or as the Mayor has recently 
stated as the birthplace of the industrial revolution 
the West Midlands has a moral responsibility to 
lead the fight on the climate crisis.

Source: SWM annual sustainability metrics 
benchmarking for the WMCA, May 2019

40

% change CO2 
emissions

%
 c

ha
ng

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
20

10
 - 

20
16

% change economic 
productivity (GVA)

30

20

10

-10

-20

-30

0

Change in carbon emissions and 
economic productivity in WMCA 
between 2010 and 2016

P
age 102

https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/2406/business-professional-financial-services.pdf


28

Developing an understanding of the 
potential social and economic benefits 
of environmental improvements 

Air quality – If all current air quality pollution 
was eliminated in the WMCA area, there would 
be an annual saving of economic, social and 
environmental costs of £2.5 billion a year. By just 
reducing the levels of one pollutant (PM2.5) in 
half, 952 deaths would be prevented and £1.4m 
of NHS costs saved in the WMCA area.

Energy – The annual energy costs to 
businesses and homes for the WMCA area is 
£6.7 billion a year. If the area invested £3.6 
billion in cost effective clean energy and 
efficiency measures, by 2022 it could cut its 
annual energy bill by almost £1 billion per year 
(a payback of just over 3 years)

Warmer homes – If insulation and heating 
was improved to eradicated illness caused by 
cold homes, this would save the local NHS an 

estimated £63.1m a year. By improving our homes 
to eliminate all the deaths caused by cold homes, 
2,270 lives would be saved in the WMCA area.

Green space – If 80% of WMCA residents used 
their local green space more than once a month 
it is estimated to save the local NHS £1.8m per 
year. If green spaces were used for sustainable 
drainage and as flood defences to protect half the 
properties at risk in the WMCA area, this would 
save £20.8m of economic damage per year.

Waste – If an additional 25% of household waste 
that is currently sent to landfill or incineration in 
the WMCA area, was recycled, it would save an 
additional £23.1m per year.

Business – The Local Industrial Strategy 
identifies the Low Carbon Technology sector 
within the WMCA area as the most productive. 
The scale of the sector is often hidden as existing 
businesses diversify into this market place, but 
could make up over £9 billion or 10% of the 
WMCA economy.

Source: SWM and WMCA high level internal review of social and economic 
impact of proposed environmental improvements, May 2019

P
age 103

https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/2406/business-professional-financial-services.pdf


29

The Regional Outcome Indicators 
3 LEP Geography consistent with WMCA SEP 
unless otherwise stated7

7 The green shading illustrates indicators which have moved in a positive direction compared to the UK average or national (England) where UK averages are not 
available. The red shading indicates the reverse and orange indicates a growth rate in the right direction but less than the UK or national average.
8 Baseline will vary on certain indictors, please see the full report for details

Outcomes Measures of Success Where we are now Change over the last 
year

Direction of Travel 
Relative to UK average 
since 20138

Scale of the Challenge

ECONOMIC GROWTH 
- Improved GVA for the 
region in line with the 
UK average

O1. Gross Value Added 
(GVA) per head

£23,903 +£636 +£3,421

+16.7% WMCA
+12.3% UK

GVA per head £27,555

+£3,652 GVA per head

O2. GVA per Hour £31.07 +£0.93 +£3.63
+13.2% WMCA
+8.8% UK

GVA per hour £33.65

+£2.58  per Hour

O3. Gross Disposable 
Household Income 
(GDHI) per Person

£16,479 +£186 +£1,514 
+10.1% WMCA
+9.2% UK

£19,514 GDHI per Person 

+£3,035 GDHI per Person

The Regional Outcome Indicators covered in 
this report provide a clear framework to monitor 
progress and the economic changes required to 
achieve our vision and the ambitions set out in the 
Strategic Economic Plan and further developed in 
the West Midlands Local Industrial Strategy. The 
Regional Outcome indicators are composed of a 
selection of strategic headline indicators, which 
measure the impact of all activity across the 3 LEP 
areas by all stakeholders. These indicators cover a 

range of theme areas including economic, fiscal, 
social and environmental impacts. 

The performance against these indicators are 
impacted by a number of factors including external 
factors like the global economy which are outside 
of the control of regional partners.

Work is ongoing to demonstrate the impact of 
investment and outputs on achieving our required 
outcomes and impact utilising logic chains. 

P
age 104



30

BUSINESS - Improved 
the productivity of our 
businesses focussing on 
our growth sectors

FISCAL -  Secure better 
for less from our public 
services

B1. GVA per employee £53,087 +£396 +£4,280

+8.8% WMCA
+6.6% Eng.

GVA per employee = £60,523

+£7,436 GVA per employee

B2. GVA in 
transformational 
sectors 

£72.3bn +£2.3bn +£13bn

+22.5% WMCA
16.7% UK

£147bn WMCA SEP Ambition

+£74.7bn GVA

B3. No. of Enterprise 
Births

24,230
enterprise births

58 per
10,000 population

-3,315 enterprise births +5,425 enterprise births

+28.8% WMCA
+10.3% UK

Ahead of UK

Currently on par with the 
UK average of 58 per 10,000 
population, ambition is to 
surpass the UK average

B4. Five - year 
Enterprise Survival Rate 
of businesses born in 
2012

43.5% -6.7pp N/A 44.1%

B5. Jobs in 
Transformational 
Sectors

1.2m +43,715 jobs +155,020

+13.3% WMCA
+10.3% Eng.

1.5m WMCA Transformational 
SEP Ambition

+ 33,155 jobs in 
Transformational Sectors

B6. Total Jobs 1.9m +56,000 +186,000 Jobs

+11.1% WMCA
+ 9.6% Eng.

2.4m WMCA SEP Total Jobs 
Ambition

+535,000 Jobs

  B7. Employment Rate   71.7% +0.7 pp +4.5 pp WMCA
+3.8 pp UK

Employment rate = 75%

+3.3pp

F1. Income & Exp. Balance  -£1bn -£1.7 bn N/A To achieve no fiscal gap
+£1 bn

Outcomes Measures of 
Success

Where we are now Change over the last 
year

Direction of Travel Relative 
to UK average since 20134

Scale of the Challenge

P
age 105



31

Outcomes Measures of Success Where we are now Change over the last year Direction of Travel Relative 
to UK average since 20134

Scale of the Challenge

PEOPLE - Improved Life 
Chances for all

P1. Reduce % of people in top 
10% most deprived areas

20% 10% of people

P2. Annual average earnings of 
full-time working residents

£28,294 + £652 +£2,415
+9.5% WMCA
+9.3% Eng.

+ £1,280

(ii) % of employees earning above 
the Living Wage Foundation rates 

76.3% +0.5pp N/A +0.9pp

SKILLS - Improved skill 
levels at all ages so that 
people have the skills 
and qualifications to 
access jobs. Ignite /
Retune /Accelerate

P3. Youth Claimants aged 18 - 249 18,675
 (March 2019)

+3,035
19.4%

- 17,490

- 48.4% WMCA
- 51.4% UK

22.9%
-4,281 youth claimants 

P4. Claimant Count aged 18 - 64 91,310
(March 2019)

+17,485 -37,530
-29.1% WMCA
-34.6% UK 

-31.1% 
-28,359 claimants

P5. % of Working Age Population 
(WAP) with No Qualifications

11.0%
283,700 people

- 2.5%
- 7,400 people

- 21.8% WMCA
- 79,300 people
- 15.4% UK

8%
- 78,284 people

P6. % of WAP with NVQ1 11.4%
292,900 people

+0.7%
+ 2,000 people

- 6% WMCA10

- 18,800 people
- 10.9% UK

Ahead of UK 

P7. % of WAP with NVQ2 17.0%
437,600  people

 + 1.2%
+ 5,400 people

+1.7% WMCA
+7,200 people
-4.2% UK

Ahead of UK

P8. % of WAP with NVQ3 17.7%
454,100 people

+ 0.6%
+ 2,600 people

+ 4.2%  WMCA
+ 18,300 people
+1.7% UK

Ahead of UK

P9. % of WAP with NVQ4+ 32.1%
825,500  people

+ 3.4%
+ 27,200 people

+20.0% WMCA
+137,800 people
+14.1% UK

39.2%
+ 181,538 people

P10. No. of Apprenticeships 
starts

29,230 -13,240
-31.2%

- 6,780
- 18.8% WMCA
-13.5 % Eng.

84,000

+54,770 apprenticeships

P11. Progress 8 Score - 0.14
(Below Average)

+0.02 N/A -0.02 (England average)
+0.12 points

9 Please note claimant count figures have been impacted due to the roll out of universal credit.
10 While the growth here is below the UK average, decline in this area may indicate positive progression.

P
age 106



32

Outcomes Measures of Success Where we are now Change over the last year Direction of Travel Relative 
to UK average since 2013

Scale of the Challenge

 P12. NEETs aged 16-17 4,630
(7.1%)
(WM 7 Met.)

-410
-8.1%

N/A 6%
- 701 NEETs

P13. % of children achieving a 
good level of development at 
the end of reception

68.3%
(WM 7 Met.)

+2.0pp +18.6pp WM 7 Met. 
+19.8pp Eng.

+3.2pp

P14. Social Mobility Based on 326 Local 
Authorities

Lowest Ranked: North 
Warwickshire: 307

Higest Rank: Bromsgrove 
48 (2017)

+15 places N/A All the West Midland Local 
Authorities in the Top 
Quarter Ranking  

HEALTH - Better quality 
of life for all: improved 
health (inc. Mental 
health) and well being

P15. Healthy Life Expectancy 
(HLE) at Births – Males & 
Females

Males (M) =
59.9 years
(WM 7 Met.)

+ 0.3 years (WM 7 Met.) 0 years WM 7 Met.
+ 0.1 years Eng.

63.4 years

Females (F) =
60.1 years

- 0.2 years - 1.1 years WM 7 Met.
- 0.1 years Eng.

63.8 years

P16. Health inequality gap by 
years between the most and 
least deprived areas

M = 6.3 years
F = 7.4 years
(WM 7 Met.)

M = -1.7 years
F = - 1.5 years
(WM 7 Met.)

M = -2.4 years
F = - 0.3 years
(WM 7 Met.)

No gap

Reduce gap by 6.3 years 
for males and 7.4 years 
for females

P17. Gap in employment rate for 
those in contact with secondary 
mental health services and the 
overall employment rate

61.2%
(WM 7 Met.)

+0.9 pp 
(WM 7 Met.)

+ 1.9 WM 7 Met.
+ 3.5 pp Eng.

Ahead of England  
+ 7pp (68.2%)

P18. – Rates of suicide (per 
100,000 population)

8.7 per 100,000 population 
(WM 7 Met.)

-1.1 per 100,000 population
(WM 7 Met.)

- 1.4 WM 7 Met.
-0.5 Eng.

No suicides
- 627 suicides

P19. - % Physically Active Adults 1,913,900
(58.1%)

+1.1 pp N/A 62.6%
+ 156,701 active people

P20. Infant Mortality 6.6 per 1,000 live births 
(WM 7 Met.)

No Change +0.4 per 1,000 live births WM 

7 Met.

No Change Eng.

0
Preventable Deaths

P
age 107



33

CRIME - Reduced 
offending and re-
offending

P21. – Total Recorded Crime (per 
1,000 population)

252,689 
(87.2 per 1,000 pop.
WM 7 Met.)

+10.9% WM 7 Met.
+7.0% Eng.

+39.2% WM 7 Met. 
+34.9% Eng.

Below the England Average 
87 per 1,000 population

P22. - Proven Rates of Re-
Offending Rates for Adults

30.1% (WM 7 Met.) N/A N/A Below the England and 
Wales Average
-1.4pp (28.7%)

P23. – No. of first-time entrants 
to Youth Justice System (per 
100,000)

397 per 100,000 
(WM 7 Met.)

-10.6% WM 7 Met.
-11.6% Eng. 

- 19.8% WM 7 Met.
- 34.8% Eng.

-104 first-time entrants per 
100,000

PLACE
ACCESSIBILITY- 
Improved the 
connectivity of people 
to businesses to jobs 
and markets

Pl1. Broadband Connectivity 97.7%
1.19m premises
(WM 7 Met.)

+ 2.1 pp
(WM 7 Met.)

+ 6.4 pp WM 7 Met. 
+ 18 pp UK

100% coverage
 

Pl2. % residents able to access 
3 or more strategic centres 
including Birmingham City 
Centre, accessible by public 
transport within 45 mins travel 
time in the am peak

43% 
(WM 7 Met.)

+0.9 pp
(WM 7 Met.)

- 1.6 pp11

(Oct 2013 vs Jan 2019)
(WM 7 Met.)

75%

+ 32pp

Pl3. Bus time reliability
To be developed12

Outcomes Measures of Success Where we are now Change over the last year Direction of Travel Relative 
to UK average since 2013

Scale of the Challenge

11 For indicators with no shading this is due to no UK comparative figure.
12 Transport for West Midlands is in the process of developing an effective monitoring approach for bus time reliability.

P
age 108



34

INFRASTRUCTURE - 
Improved the quantity 
of high quality readily 
available development 
sites

Pl4. Mode Share of all Journeys:
i). Mode Share of all journeys by 
non-sustainable and sustainable 

ii). Percentage of car journeys 
single occupancy

i)Non-sustainable (Car) 68%

Sustainable: 32%
 

ii)   73%
(WM 7 Met.)

i)Non-sustainable (Car) +1%

Sustainable: -1%

i)Non- Sustainable (Car) +4%

Sustainable: - 4%

45% car mode share

Car (- 23%)

Pl5. Total Dwelling Stock 
Estimates

1,719,094 +14,491 +56,694 WMCA +189,029

Pl6. Total Additional Affordable 
Dwellings

3,337
(2017/18)

+482 +503 WMCA
(2013/14 – 2017/18)

Pl7.Number of Additional 
Affordable Rented Dwellings

1,626
(2017/18)

+49 +133 WMCA
(2013/14 – 2017/18)

PL8. Ratio of median house 
price to median gross annual 
residence-based earnings

7.1 +0.26 +1.27 WMCA
+1.24 Eng.  

SUSTAINABILITY 
-  Resource efficient 
economy to stimulate 
new technology and 
business

E1. CO2 emitted within SEP area 
by transport, businesses and 
homes

21,043 ktCO2  -830 ktCO2

-3.8%
-14.7% WMCA
-17.9% UK

WMCA target: 40% 
reduction in carbon by 
2030 from 2010

-5,249 ktCO2

E2. No. of days poor air quality 
per year (rated 4 or higher on the 
Daily Air Quality Index) 13

46 days +21 days -17.9% WM
+2.4% UK

WMCA target: 1 day by 
2030
-45 days

Outcomes Measures of Success Where we are now Change over the last year Direction of Travel Relative 
to UK average since 2013

Scale of the Challenge

13 Number of days is measure by region.

P
age 109



35

This report is produced for the 
Office of Data Analytics by:

P
age 110


	Agenda
	4 Questions to the Mayor from member of Overview & Scrutiny Committee
	Useful Information for Members
	WMCA Annual Plan 2019-2020
	Foreword

	WMCA State of the Region 2019


